

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Alternative Certification Teachers' Perceptions About Teacher Preparation Programs

Mary Kathleen Huffman Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Teacher Education and Professional Development Commons

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Mary Kathleen Huffman

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Sydney Parent, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Carole Pearce, Committee Member, Education Faculty
Dr. Beate Baltes, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Alternative Certification Teachers' Perceptions About Teacher Preparation Programs

by

Mary Kathleen Huffman

MA, Western Illinois University, 2008

BS, Western Illinois University, 2001

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2020

Abstract

Due to the teacher shortage in a U.S. southeastern state, administrators at Unified School District (USD, a pseudonym) hired alternative teacher certification program (ATCP) teachers enrolled in graduate level education courses through ATCPs while teaching full time. These ATCP teachers have bachelor's degrees and work experiences in various professions. The problem investigated in this study was the high attrition rate of ATCP teachers. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools. The conceptual framework was Shulman's pedagogical content knowledge model. Ten ATCP teachers participated in semistructured interviews. Data were analyzed using open and axial coding, and the following 5 themes emerged: teachers felt that their ATCP prepared them for teaching the College and Career Readiness Standards; their prior experiences prepared them to teach; they felt prepared to integrate effective pedagogical practices; they did express the need for continued professional development training; and they noted the lack of instructional support in the school. Based on the study results, a professional development training was created to continue the preparation of ATCP teachers. The implications for positive social change are that future ATCP teachers may be more confident and satisfied in their new career and hence, help USD to have enough teachers for their students that can offer them quality education.

Alternative Certification Teachers' Perceptions About Teacher Preparation Programs

by

Mary Kathleen Huffman

MA, Western Illinois University, 2008

BS, Western Illinois University, 2001

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2020

Dedication

I dedicate this study to all of the diverse students in higher education. You deserve a strong educational system to support your goals.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the faculty, family members, and friends who have helped me reach this point in my academic career. I have always pushed myself to achieve as many goals as possible throughout my lifetime, but I could not have done it without you. My parents and family are key factors for me continuing my education to the doctoral level. They encouraged me when the road became challenging, and they have cheered me on all the way through the doctoral finish line. I truly treasure and love each of you from the bottom of my heart!

Dr. Sara Simonson has always been my role model in education. She continues to lead in the field of education, and I cannot wait to follow in her footsteps. Barbara Hairfield is another role model in my life because she works tirelessly to provide resources and active professional development training for teachers. She motivates educators to strengthen their instructional strategies while providing lessons that meet the needs of all learners. These women are true inspiration for all women in the field of education!

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vi
Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale	5
Definition of Terms	7
Significance of the Study	7
Research Questions	7
Review of the Literature	8
Shulman's Pedagogical Content Knowledge Model	9
Review of the Broader Problem	13
Purpose of Alternative Teacher Certification Programs	13
Leader in the Field of Alternative Certification Programs	15
Program for Alternative Certification for Educators (PACE)	17
Teach for America (TFA): An Alternative Certification Program	17
The Alternative Teaching Certification Population	20
Hiring Alternative Certification Teachers	21
Concerns With Alternative Teaching Certification Programs	24
Concerns of Alternative Certified Program Teachers	26
Strategies for Teaching Adults in Alternative Teacher Certification	
Programs	30
Implications	36
Summary	37

Section 2: The Methodology	39
Research Design and Approach	39
Description of the Qualitative Design	39
Justification	41
Participants	42
Criteria for Participant Selection	42
Justification for the Number of Participants	43
Gaining Access to Participants	44
Method for Establishing Researcher-Participant Working Relationship	45
Methods for Ethical Protection of Participants	45
Data Collection	46
Interviews	46
Systems for Keeping Track of Data	47
Role of the Researcher	47
Data Analysis	48
Analysis of Interviews	48
Evidence of Quality	49
Data Analysis Results	49
Theme 1: Prepared for College and Career Readiness Standards	51
Theme 2: Prepared From Prior Experiences	52
Theme 3: Prepared to Integrate Effective Pedagogical Practices	57
Theme 4: The Need for Continued Professional Development	61
Theme 5: The Lack of Instructional Support	63

Evidence of Quality	68
Project Deliverable	69
Summary	70
Section 3: The Project	76
Rationale	77
Review of Literature	77
Effective Professional Development Training	78
Connections Between Shulman's PCK Model and Professional	
Development	81
Effective Technology Integration for ATCP Teachers	82
Virtual Learning Support: Parent Engagement and Involvement	83
Virtual Learning Support: Student Engagement and Involvement	84
Meeting the Needs of All Students: ESOL Pedagogical Practices	85
Meeting the Needs of All Students: SPED Pedagogical Practices	87
Conclusion	88
Project Description	89
Needed Resources and Existing Support	89
Potential Barriers and Solutions	90
Implementation and Timeline.	90
Roles and Responsibilities	91
Project Evaluation Plan.	93
Summative and Formative Evaluation.	93
Overall Goals of the Project	94

Instrumentation to Evaluate Using a Questionnaire	95
Project Implications	96
Possible Positive Social Change	96
Importance to Local Stakeholders	96
Conclusion	97
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	99
Project Strengths and Limitations	99
Project Strengths	99
Project Limitations	100
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	101
Alternative Approach	101
Alternate Solution	102
Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change	102
Scholarship	102
Project Development	103
Leadership and Change	103
Analysis of Self as Scholar	104
Analysis of Self as Practitioner	104
Analysis of Self as Project Developer	105
Reflection on Importance of the Work	106
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	106
Implications	106
Applications	107

Directions for Future Research.	108
Conclusion	109
References	110
Appendix A: The Project	129
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	148
Appendix C: Follow-Up Email From Alternative Certification Teacher	
Representative	151

List of Tables

Table 1. Southeastern State: Teacher Attrition Rates Over a 5-Year Period	2
Table 2. Southeastern State: Teacher Attrition Rates for All Teachers Versus ATCP	
Teachers	4

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

In the 1980s, alternative teacher certification programs (ATCP) were developed to attempt to relieve the teacher shortage in the United States (Miller, Elder, Seymour, Brenner, & Cheatham, 2019). Since that time, ATCPs have proliferated throughout the country. The Unified School District (USD, a pseudonym) in the southeastern United States has hired ATCP teachers since 1984 in order to address severe teacher shortages (U.S. Department of Education, 2019a). At the beginning of the 2019-2020 school year, USD employed 105 ATCP teachers in 85 schools. These ATCP teachers were prepared by six different ATCP programs based on the type of teacher training needed.

To be enrolled in an ATCP program, individuals must have a bachelor's degree in a noneducation discipline and pass a Federal Bureau of Investigation background check. Once the ATCP teachers are hired by USD and individual principals, they simultaneously complete three graduate-level education courses through one of the six ATCP 3-year programs while teaching full time. Prior to applying for a standard teaching license in the third year of the ATCP, ATCP teachers must pass the same teacher certification exam as a traditional teacher with a bachelor's degree in the field of education (U.S. Department of Education, 2019a). The problem investigated by this study was the high attrition rate of ATCP teachers in USD.

Stakeholders were concerned that ATCP teachers left the profession or the local school district because they may not have received the tools necessary to be successful in the classroom. One principal in USD questioned the practice of placing ATCP teachers

in fulltime teaching positions when they had neither student teaching experience nor time to practice teaching with the students before having their own classroom of students. Another principal within USD expressed concern regarding a trend toward high teacher attrition among ATCP teachers who worked at the elementary and middle schools across USD. Concerns with teacher attrition across the target southeastern state are identified in Table 1 includes the USD teacher attrition rates and the southeastern state's teacher attrition rates from the 2013-2014 school year to the 2017-2018 school year. The southeastern state's attrition rates account for teachers who left the state for any reason and teachers who moved into a nonteaching position within the southeastern state.

Table 1 includes a summary of both the overall teacher attrition rates for the USD and the southeastern state where the USD is located. Teacher attrition rates mostly increased over a 5-year period.

Table 1
Southeastern State: Teacher Attrition Rates Over a 5-Year Period

School year	USD Southeastern state	
	teacher attrition rates	teacher attrition rates
2013-14	10.7%	7.0%
2014-15	11.4%	7.3%
2015-16	11.4%	7.4%
2016-17	13.3%	7.7%
2017-18	13.9%	7.8%

Note. Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement (CERRA) 2013-2014; 2014-2015; 2015-2016; 2016-2017; 2017-2018.

USD is the second largest in the target southeastern state. This is significant because there is a trend toward high teacher attrition across the target southeastern state. According to USD's state department of education website from 2017, researchers

analyzed district report cards from the 2013-2014 to the 2017-2018 school year and reported that the USD had a teacher attrition increase of 3.2% over a 5-year period. The Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement (CERRA; 2018a) reported an increase between the 2015-2016 and the 2017-2018 school year, with a rise of 1.9% in 1 year. All across the target southeastern state, teacher attrition is on the rise (CERRA, 2019). From the 2013-2014 to the 2017-2018 school year, an .8% increase in teacher attrition has been reported, according to USD's state department of education's 2017 website post. Researchers also identified on the USD's state department of education website in 2017 the rise of teacher attrition means that there are more teacher vacancies to fill with international and ATCP teachers

A growing trend of ATCP teacher attrition across the target southeastern state was identified (CERRA, 2019). Table 2 includes the total number of teachers and ATCP teachers who left their teaching position at the end or during the school year across the target southeastern state. From the 2013-2014 school year to the 2017-2018 school year, a rise of teacher attrition was identified for all teachers and ATCP teachers in the target southeastern state.

Table 2
Southeastern State: Teacher Attrition Rates for All Teachers Versus ATCP Teachers

School	Total ATCP	All teachers	ATCP	ATCP	ATCP
year	teachers	who left	teachers who	teachers who	teachers
	who left	their	left	left with 2-5	who left
	their position	position	with 1 year	years of	with over
			or less	experience	5 years of
			experience		experience
2013-14	102 (1%)	5,278	37	52	13
2014-15	186 (3.5%)	5,352	77	96	13
2015-16	209 (3.2%)	6,482	55	125	29
2016-17	270 (4%)	6,705	81	136	53
2017-18	237 (3%)	7,340	98	72	67

Note. Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement (CERRA) 2014-2015; 2015-2016; 2016-2017; 2017-2018; 2018-2019.

It was reported that within the 2013-2014 school year, 1% of all teachers leaving their positions in the southeastern state were ATCP teachers (102; CERRA, 2014). This number increased to 4% of ATCP teachers (270) leaving their position during the 2016-2017 school year, with a 3% increase in 3 years (CERRA, 2017). ATCP teacher attrition rose for those who left with 1 year or less teaching experience from the 2013-2014 school year (37 ATCP teachers) through the 2017-2018 school year (98 ATCP teachers; CERRA, 2018). Because these ATCP teachers had 1 year or less of teaching experience, they did not complete an ATCP, so they did not earn a teaching certificate. An additional yearly rise in ATCP teacher attrition was reported between the 2013-2014 school year and the 2017-2018 school year for the ATCP teachers who left the classroom after teaching more than 5 years, with a rise from 13 to 67 ATCP teachers (CERRA, 2018).

During the 2015-2016 school year, 209 ATCP teachers left the classroom. Of the 209

ATCP teachers, 21% left because of personal choice, 11% changed jobs, and 14% left after teaching 2 years (CERRA, 2016). Due to the rising trend in ATCP teacher attrition, stakeholders are concerned that ATCP teachers leave the profession or the local school district because they may not have received the tools needed to be successful in the classroom. Therefore, the purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools.

Rationale

I became interested in researching ATCP teachers and the contribution they have made at the local school district after speaking to the principal of the school at which I teach. The principal frequently expressed the value of ATCPs privately and in presentations to groups. Additionally, an interview of this principal was posted on the state Department of Education website to endorse ATCPs and describe the transition from a prior career to a job in teaching (U.S. Department of Education, 2019a). However, the principal stated that improvements were necessary to strengthen these programs. According to a district-level administrator, ATCP teachers lack teaching skills, yet they are teaching full time.

After speaking with the principal at my school, I wanted to gather additional perceptions of ATCPs from people within USD. A different school administrator, not at my school, who earned an education degree through an ATCP, described the difficulty of teaching classes without participating in student teaching while attending graduate-level courses. Moreover, two school-level administrators from USD, not at my school,

expressed concerns regarding the capabilities of ATCP teachers. Many of these same concerns about the preparation of ATCP teachers have been identified in professional literature (Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017; Curry, Webb, & Latham, 2016).

Curry et al. (2016) cited classroom management as a significant concern for ATCP teachers while Lewis-Spector (2016) identified the lack of literacy training as an area of weakness. After learning about ATCPs, I spoke to the director of certification for USD to inquire about the ATCP attrition rates and the increase or decrease in ATCP teachers. The director of certification could not share the teacher attrition rates with me, but the director speculated there was an increase in the hiring of ATCP teachers within USD. Therefore, I reviewed data from the Southeastern State Department of Education to identify ATCP teacher attrition rates from the 2013-2014 school year through the 2018-2019 school year in the Yearly CERRA Reports. In the 2015-2016 school year, seven ATCP teachers were hired at USD and that number increased to 40 ATCP teachers by the 2018-2019 school year. With the increased hiring of ATCP teachers at USD and concerns with teacher preparation across the United States, I decided to explore the perceptions of ATCP teachers to identify strengths within teacher preparation. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools.

Definition of Terms

Alternative certification: Teacher certification programs that move candidates into the classroom immediately after a short training to fill teaching positions while attending

evening or weekend classes (U.S. Department of Education Office of Innovation and Improvement, 2014).

Stakeholders: People who have a stake or interest in some process (Glesne, 2011).

Teacher turnover rate: The rate that teachers leave or separate from a school district to leave classroom teaching to move into another position (Colorado Department of Education, 2018).

Significance of the Study

Through my study, ATCP teachers in the classroom were a voice to state what help they wanted in order to be better teachers. This study is significant because my research findings may provide information to support current and future ATCP teachers. The stakeholders, which included the district school board, school district administrators, and the school district principals, may find the results of this study useful to provide support in areas that ATCP teachers identified as areas of weakness in their teaching. Similarly, the findings from this study may assist college institutions in ensuring ATCP teachers have real-world teaching experiences they can use to prepare them for success in the classroom.

Research Questions

The problem investigated by this study was the high attrition rate of ATCP teachers at USD. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools. Within the literature, there was limited knowledge of ATCP teachers' perceptions of the preparation they

received; moreover, within USD, there was no knowledge of ATCP teachers' perceptions of the preparation they received from their ATCP, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences for K-12 schools. The following research questions were addressed:

Research Question 1: What are ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness to be a fulltime teacher after being trained in the ATCPs in USD?

Research Question 2: In addition to ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences, what else do ATCP teachers at USD wish they had to prepare them to teach in K-12 schools?

Review of the Literature

To begin my literature review, I read recently completed project studies to use as exemplars and models to understand the flow of a literature review. I examined many peer-reviewed journals, textbooks from my doctoral program, and primary sources related to ATCPs. The Walden University Library, ProQuest, ERIC database, Google Scholar, and ProQuest Dissertations were used for my review of literature.

The following search terms were used while I was reviewing the literature: *United*States teacher shortage, alternative certification programs, perceptions of teacher

preparation, adult education, professional development for adults, teacher preparation,

teacher certification, teacher turnover, Emily Feistritzer, Program for Alternative

Certification for Educators, and Teach for America. These search terms were used

individually and in combination to search for literature published within the past 5 years.

After repeated searches did not reveal new literature and the only literature found was older than my target publication dates, I felt my search was complete.

In the first section of the literature review, I describe the conceptual framework that grounded my study. Then I include logical connections between the framework, study approach, and research questions. Next, I present research about ATCPs, concerns with ATCP programs, and the teacher shortage in the United States. In the remainder of the literature review, I discuss research about ATCP teachers' concerns, the Program for Alternative Certification for Educators, and Teach for America.

Conceptual Framework

While preparing for this study, I researched Shulman's (1986) pedagogical content knowledge (PCK) model using ERIC and Education Research Complete database. After reading a variety of sources for and against ATCPs, I determined that Shulman's (1987) work was an appropriate framework for my study. Shulman (1987) concluded that the most effective teacher preparation was well-organized and included standards-based instructional activities. Shulman's (1987) PCK model provided an appropriate framework to investigate the perceptions of ATCP teachers who received their preparation from ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences for K-12 schools.

Shulman's Pedagogical Content Knowledge Model

Shulman's (1986) PCK model emerged in the parlance of pedagogical theory in the mid-1980s. Shulman developed the theory after investigating the test scores of teacher licensing candidates from five states. There are three types of knowledge distinct to teachers: (a) knowledge of subject matter, (b) knowledge of pedagogical practice, and (c) knowledge of how to teach (Shulman, 1986, 1987). Knowledge of subject matter is

the understanding of the fundamental concepts that are distinct to an academic discipline (Ravgiala, 2002). Knowledge of pedagogical practice is the understanding of teaching practices (Ravgiala, 2002).

Knowledge of how to teach is the convergence of understanding the fundamental concepts of an academic discipline and understanding teaching practices (Shulman, 1986). The convergence of the depth of knowledge of an academic discipline and the understanding of teaching practices were the foundation upon which Shulman developed the PCK model (Feltre, 2016). Ravgiala (2002) stated, "Applied to all disciplines, pedagogical content knowledge is the domain of knowledge that describes the integration of process and content" (p. 28). By integrating the understanding of the concepts of an academic discipline and the understanding of teaching practices to develop PCK, Shulman (1986) conceptualized not only how to present and convey information to promote students' understanding of content but also how to identify the factors inhibiting or promoting their understanding.

By placing an emphasis on the inextricable link between knowledge of subject matter and knowledge of pedagogical practice, Shulman (1987) prompted a paradigm shift within teacher education. This paradigm shift involved teachers reconsidering the manner in which they perceived the practice of teaching (Jing-Jing, 2014). To promote PCK development among preservice teachers enrolled in teacher education programs, Gudmundsdottir and Shulman (1987) expanded upon the PCK model by clarifying its various components.

Gudmundsdottier and Shulman (1987) described the first component as knowledge of concepts germane to the subject matter and knowledge of figurative language such as to help explain content to students. The next component they explicated were knowledge of the various teaching practices to use when presenting subject matter and the various advantages and disadvantages of those practices. The final components they elucidated was knowledge of the barriers students encounter in acquiring new knowledge and knowledge of the negative influence of students' misconceptions on the knowledge acquisition process (Gudmundsdottir & Shulman, 1987; Jing-Jing, 2014). As the prominence of the PCK model increased, researchers made further clarifications and added components to the model (Jing-Jing, 2014).

By the end of the 20th Century, the PCK model was an accepted part of teacher training and practice in the content area of science (Barendsen & Henze, 2019). As the PCK model gained currency among education stakeholders, teacher education programs used the PCK framework to prepare preservice and alternatively certified teachers.

ATCPs began to strengthen across the United States because of the teacher shortage, and the PCK framework increased in prominence in the body of knowledge.

A review of the related literature revealed that other researchers have used the PCK model as a conceptual lens to determine if ATCPs are effective mechanisms for promoting teacher effectiveness. Scott, Bruno, and Willis (2019) included approximately 100 provisionally certified teachers who enrolled in an ATCP to complete the requirements for their professional teaching license. Scott et al. noted that school districts across the target southern state hired these provisionally certified teachers to

work with students with disabilities. The provisionally certified teachers were also enrolled in content- and pedagogy-specific coursework in special education.

Using the PCK model as an instructional framework, Scott et al. (2019) developed a two-part survey called the Special Education Teacher Preparation Towards Standards survey (p. 5). Scott et al. found that 92 of the 93 participants rated the ATCP as extremely effective, very positive, or positive for teacher ATCP preparation. The components of the ATCP that participants perceived promoted their success in the program were the online course delivery and the opportunity to participate in field-based learning experiences in K-12 classrooms. The courses that participants believed prepared them to transition successfully into a K-12 special education teaching assignment were those wherein they developed a precise understanding of the learning characteristics of students with disabilities, learned about various classroom management strategies, and increased their capacity to implement individual education programs (IEPs).

Scott et al. (2019) believed that the PCK framework was an appropriate construct for addressing the needs of teachers enrolled in ATCP. They also underscored the importance of investigating the experiences of teachers enrolled in ATCPs and giving them the opportunity to express their positive educational experiences. Scott et al. recommended that educational policymakers mandate that ATCPs incorporate strategies that increase the capacity of teachers to meet the professional teaching standards of one southern state.

Similar to Scott et al. (2019), Feltre (2016) conducted a qualitative case study and used Shulman's PCK conceptual framework to investigate the experiences of teachers

who completed their teacher licensing requirements through ATCPs. Specifically, Feltre sought to investigate the experiences of three first-year science teachers from two different ATCPs to determine if they perceived that ATCPs were effective in promoting their pedagogical content knowledge. Two themes emerged from the data analysis. The first theme was the inability of teachers to transfer their learning experiences in the ATCPs to their instructional experiences in their classroom settings (Feltre, 2016). The second theme was that teachers did not perceive that their learned pedagogical experiences in the ATCPs were effective mechanisms for promoting their pedagogical content knowledge (Feltre, 2016). Participants also perceived that creating relevant learning experiences and providing opportunities for reflection were methods for the translation of learning experiences in ATCPs into classroom practice and for the acquisition of pedagogical content knowledge (Feltre, 2016). On the basis of those findings, Feltre recommended that ATCPs examine their curriculum and course sequences and configure their programs to promote the transferability of learning experiences within ATCPs to the classroom experiences of first-year science teachers.

Review of the Broader Problem

Purpose of Alternative Teacher Certification Programs

In school districts across the United States, a disproportionately high number of K-12 teachers have either retired or have left the teaching profession (Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017). According to the results of a nationally representative staffing survey, the teacher turnover rate is especially high in the southern part of the United States, with approximately 17% of teachers beginning the school year in a fulltime

teaching position and leaving the profession by the beginning of the subsequent school year (Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017). Given the high teacher turnover rate, the demand for fully certified teachers far exceeds the supply of certified teaching candidates (Black, 2016; Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017).

In one western state, the demand for certified teachers exceeded the supply of certified teachers by about 40%, and this gap has increased in subsequent school years (Black, 2016). At the beginning of the 2015-16 school year, administrators from the school district were unable to fill 300 teacher vacancies (Zeichner, 2017). These teacher vacancies prompted further research regarding teacher shortages in school districts across the United States.

After analyzing many studies about the teacher shortage, Garcia and Weiss (2019) found that the teacher shortage in school districts across the United States has increased, especially in high-poverty schools, and that the demand for teachers has far exceeded the supply of teachers. Garcia and Weiss also found that the number of teacher vacancies in school districts across the United States increased from about 2,000 during the 2012-2013 school year to approximately 110,000 during the 2017-2018 school year, which represents an increase of approximately 108,000 vacancies over a 5-year period. CERRA (2018) reported that at the beginning of the 2017-2018 school year, 550 teaching positions were vacant in the target southeastern state, which represented a 16% increase when compared to the number of vacancies at the beginning of the 2016-17 school year, with the most significant being at the early childhood and elementary level.

Given the 550 teacher vacancies in the target southeastern state during the 2017-2018 school year, educational policymakers created an alternative path to teacher certification for those who wanted to leave their career fields and enroll in an ATCP (CERRA, 2018). The individuals who enroll in ATCPs have diverse educational and professional backgrounds and varying perceptions of the teaching profession. Despite creating an alternate route to teaching across the target state, educational policymakers have not explored ATCP teachers' perceptions of the preparation they received in their bachelor's degree to help teach in K-12 schools. There is also limited information about an ATCP teacher's career and prior experiences preparing them to teach in K-12 schools. ATCP teachers' perceptions of the preparation they received while being trained in an ATCP was another area wherein research was limited.

Leader in the Field of Alternative Certification Programs

Teacher preparation through ATCPs has evolved over the past 50 years. Emily Feistritzer, President and CEO of the National Center for Alternative Certification is a leader in the field of ATCPs across the United States. Using her 50 years of experience in education as a point of reference, Feistritzer concluded that a collaborative approach between ATCP teachers and professors was the most effective teaching method (Feistritzer, 2008). Feistritzer used collaboration and support as the foundation for her Troops to Teachers program, which she began in 1994 to transition military personnel into the classroom (Feistritzer, Hill, & Willett, 1998).

Over 3,000 service members have become teachers through Troops to Teachers programs (Feistritzer et al., 1998). Because of her success in the field of education, Inc.

Magazine (2019) named Feistritzer to the 2019 Top 10 Innovative Women Building Mega-Successful Businesses and Top 100 Female Founders. Inc. Magazine recognized Feistritzer for the innovative Teach-Now Graduate School of Education, where 99.5% of all program completers earned their teaching license (Teach-Now, 2019).

With about 70 million kindergarten through 12th grade teachers in the world and 3.8 million teachers in the United States, Feistritzer recognized the global and domestic influence of teacher education in a variety of school settings (Taie & Goldring, 2017). Feistritzer's motto was that teacher mentoring and classroom experiences for ATCP teachers were effective methods for developing highly qualified teachers. Feistritzer has integrated her motto into The Teach-Now Graduate School of Education (Barwani, Flores, & Imig, 2018). Feistritzer believed that effective teaching and learning were collaborative, interactive, engaging, and were modeled (Barwani et al., 2018). ATCP teachers needed exposure to the same learning strategies they would use when teaching their students (Barwani et al., 2018).

In her 2007 testimony to the Committee on Education and Labor in the U.S. House of Representatives, Feistritzer spoke confidently about The Teach-Now program, noting that one third of new teachers came from ATCPs and that ATCPs were integral components in solving the problem of teacher shortages across the United States (U.S. House of Representatives, 2007). Through her experience with ATCPs and research efforts, Feistritzer has developed an effective ATCP program to train ATCP teachers for their own classroom (Barwani et al., 2018).

Program for Alternative Certification for Educators (PACE)

There are various ATCPs across the United States, and program requirements vary from state to state. One certification program in a state in the southeastern region of the United States is the Program for Alternative Certification for Educators (PACE). This program has been used to hire people who have earned a bachelor's degree, passed an FBI background check, and had no prior student teaching experience (PACE Guidelines, 2016). Two cohorts are created based on when the PACE teachers receive their statement of eligibility, and PACE teachers must attend a summer or winter Pre-Service Institute (PACE Guidelines, 2016).

The pre-service institute typically lasted for 10 days and PACE teachers also received training on state-adopted curriculum (PACE Guidelines, 2016). New teachers also received training in classroom management, lesson plan development, personalized learning, and differentiated instruction (PACE Guidelines, 2016). The Department of Education PACE instructors provided support and training for 2 years while PACE teachers were teaching. The goal of the PACE program was to provide a smooth transition into the field of education (PACE Guidelines, 2016).

Teach for America (TFA): An Alternative Certification Program

Another ATCP is Teach for America (TFA) which began in 1990 and had 50,000 corps members and alumni teaching in regions across the United States (TFA, 2017). Through interviews with TFA teachers, Thomas (2018) identified challenges TFA teachers encountered in their school settings. Thomas found that TFA teachers felt compelled to conceal their affiliation with TFA to avoid being bullied by traditionally

trained ATCP teachers who often bullied TFA teachers. Hoping to conceal their association with TFA, TFA teachers referred to their summer institute training as student teaching (Thomas, 2018). TFA teachers who were unable to conceal their affiliation with TFA noted that colleagues neither ate lunch with them nor visited their classrooms (Thomas, 2018).

Like Thomas (2018), Thomas and Mockler (2018) found that TFA teachers concealed their association with TFA. One of the TFA teachers described their teaching experiences as a time where they had to become something they were not in their teaching role. Another TFA teacher acknowledged her inadequacy in the field of education (Thomas & Mockler, 2018). They perceived their identities as outsiders, apprentices, and free agents (Thomas & Mockler, 2018). In both Thomas's 2018 and Thomas and Mockler's 2018 studies, the researchers revealed that TFA teachers concealed their identities as ATCP teachers.

Like Thomas and Mockler (2018), Gottfried and Straubhaar (2015) investigated the perceptions of TFAs' teachers regarding their ATCP. They also sought to elucidate the reasons TFA teachers left the teaching profession. Gottfried and Straubhaar found that 57% of the TFA teachers viewed the ATCP as a phase in their life rather than the start of their teaching career. Multiple TFA teachers described the reasons for their short-term commitment as stress, lack of work-life balance, working at low-income schools, and difficult administrators (Gottfried & Straubhaar, 2015). Gottfried and Straubhaar (2015) further noted that 47% of the TFA teachers agreed to stay for 3 years, which was 1 year longer than the required 2-year assignment due to a feeling of responsibility to the

students. Therefore, none of the 30 TFA teachers changed their long-term plans to stay in the field of education because of their teaching experience (Gottfried & Straubhaar, 2015).

Tatto et al. (2016) found results similar to those of Gottfried and Straubhaar's in relation to TFA teachers' desire not to return to low-income schools after only a few years teaching (2015). TFA teachers were placed in low-income schools with high needs, resulting in higher teacher turnover, which led to a shortage of teachers in these locations (Gottfried & Straubhaar, 2015; Tatto et al., 2016). The consequences of teacher shortages were increased class sizes and lower student achievement. Researchers from the U.S. Department of Education (2016) found that TFA teachers' students had low test scores in both social studies and English language. McNew-Birren, Hildebrand, and Belknap (2017) interviewed a cohort of TFA science teachers whose students had low standardized test scores. TFA science teachers expressed concern with the practice of using students' test scores as the criteria for measuring teacher effectiveness. TFA teachers attributed the low test scores to students lack of academic ability and they blamed the kids' inabilities and behaviors instead of self-reflecting on their own teaching (McNew-Birren et al., 2017). Even with the low student test scores, TFA and other ATCPs continued to train and place ATCP teachers in schools across the United States to combat the teacher shortage.

The Alternative Teaching Certification Population

On the basis of results from the 2015-16 National Household Education Survey by the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) published in 2018, ATCP

teachers were identified as Black (13%), Hispanic (15%), male (32%), and White (66%). Close to 20% of public-school teachers earned their teaching certificate through ATCPs. The following was a breakdown of the specialty areas and the corresponding percentage for each area in which school districts hired ATCP teachers: technical education (37%), natural sciences (28%), foreign languages (26%), English as a second language (24%), math and computer science (22%), and special education (20%) (U.S. Department of Education, 2018, November 1). Prior to enrolling in an ATCP, 5% of ATCP teachers cared for family members, served on active duty in one of the U.S. military branches, or retired from a job outside the field of education and 30% of ATCP teachers worked in a field outside of education (U.S. Department of Education, 2018, November 1). With respect to this study, many ATCP teachers in my study may have worked in a field outside of education prior to and while attending their ATCPs, which may have influenced their perceptions of the ATCPs' effectiveness.

High schools hired more ATCP teachers than middle and elementary schools combined (25% vs. 20%; U.S. Department of Education, 2018, November 1).

Researchers attributed the discrepancy between the number of ATCP teachers hired at the high school level and the number at the middle school level and elementary level combined to the high schools needing to fill teacher vacancies for 14 eligible certification fields (U.S. Department of Education, PACE, 2017). Charter schools hired more ATCP teachers than public schools (25% vs. 17%; U.S. Department of Education, 2018, November 1). Since various stakeholders created charter schools, they may not have had the funding to pay teachers a competitive salary. Therefore, the teacher turnover rate was

high, and these schools were more likely to hire ATCP teachers. High-poverty schools hired a high percentage of ATCP teachers, with approximately 21% of ATCP teachers working at these schools (U.S. Department of Education, 2018, November 1). Redding and Smith (2016) concluded that urban schools with a high low-income minority student population were more likely to hire ATCP teachers for hard-to-staff teaching positions.

Hiring Alternative Certification Teachers

Woods (2016) described the ATCP as a quicker path to the classroom for adults who seek a career change when compared to the traditional path in which individuals earned a bachelor's degree in education. The ATCP path to certification has changed from a traditional one-size-fits-all classroom model to a personalized, competency-based, and rigorous model wherein instructors focused on meeting the needs of all learners (Sturgis, 2015). Stakeholders across the United States underscored the importance of recruiting teachers who had the ability to implement measurable learning objectives and meaningful assessments and promoted students' capacity to apply knowledge (Sturgis, 2015).

Redding and Smith (2016) analyzed results from four waves of a nationally representative schools and staffing survey. Redding and Smith (2016) found that in the 1999-2000 school year, ATCP teachers were less likely to leave the teaching profession than teachers certified through a traditional certification program (6% compared to 11%). By the 2007-2008 school year, 27% of ATCP teachers left the field of education or changed schools compared to 17% of traditionally certified teachers. From 1999 through 2008, school districts hired 13-15% ATCP teachers for high-need subjects including

mathematics, science, special education, and English as a second language. They underscored the need to conduct further study into the perceptions and experiences of ATCP teachers to reduce the teacher turnover rate.

Dye's (2018) study related to Redding and Smith's (2016) study because Dye analyzed the movement of ATCP teachers after the ATCP teachers graduated from the ATCP. In Texas, Dye studied the state's alternative route to certification program for people who chose to become music teachers. Dye found that most ATCP teachers were hired to teach music in urban school districts, charter schools, and Title I schools. Urban school districts hired 24% of ATCP teachers while 64% of ATCP teachers worked in low socioeconomic schools as music teachers. During his study, Dye also noted that about a tenth of the ATCP music teachers in Texas did not have any formal education or experience in music. Therefore, principals did not vet potential ATCP music teachers before hiring them in Texas schools, especially those hired in high-need schools.

In addition to high-need schools, schools residing in hurricane-prone states hired ATCP teachers. School- and district-level administrators across these states, most of which were in the southeastern part of the United States, depended on ATCPs to fill teacher vacancies in high-need areas (Lincove, Barrett, & Strunk, 2018; South Carolina Department of National Resources, 2018). After Hurricane Katrina crippled New Orleans and the surrounding communities, administrators from charter schools in New Orleans filled 35% of their vacancies with ATCP teachers (Lincove et al., 2018). By hiring ATCP teachers to work in charter schools in New Orleans, the number of inexperienced teachers in the region increased. South Carolina has been hit by 11

tropical storms and hurricanes over the past 10 years; consequently, school administrators across the state have depended on ATCPs to fill teacher vacancies in high-need areas (SCDNR, 2018).

Special education is another high-need area (Bruno, Scott, & Willis, 2018).

Special education (SPED) teachers were responsible for providing specialized instruction and inclusion services for K-12 students with varying disabilities and ability levels (Bruno et al., 2018). Mulvihill and Martin (2019) stressed the importance of preparing ATCP teachers to use theory-informed inquiry to educate a diverse classroom of students with varying ability levels and diverse socioeconomic backgrounds. Since there were many challenges for teachers, Mulvihill and Martin suggested choosing an ATCP that prepared educators to teach all students including SPED students, provided ATCP teachers with classroom simulations, and encouraged the development of a professional mindset to promote professional growth.

There were a variety of accommodations ATCP teachers needed to know when entering the classroom. Farinde-Wu and Griffen (2019) interviewed 12 ATCP special education teachers and they identified four areas of concern. One of the concerns they identified was ATCP teachers' limited knowledge of federally mandated SPED policies and procedures. Congress passed the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) to ensure students with disabilities received an equal and appropriate education in the least restrictive environment, with the least restrictive environment being the regular education setting whenever possible (U.S. Department of Education, 2019b). Although ATCP teachers received instruction in SPED laws, they did not receive in-depth

instruction in how to write Individual Education Plans and implement accommodations in the classroom (Scott, 2019).

Concerns With Alternative Teaching Certification Programs

Lewis-Spector (2016) identified and described several concerns regarding alternative teaching certificate (ATC) regulations in various states. Lewis-Spector noted that the ATCP regulations in several states were geared toward mid- to post-career adults with 2 to 3 years of work experience. ATCP teachers in most states had to earn a bachelor's degree in a noneducation field with a minimum grade point average of 2.50 (Lewis-Spector, 2016). Early childhood and elementary ATCPs were available in 47 states but only 13 states offered ATCPs with secondary content-subject certification (Lewis-Spector, 2016).

Lewis-Spector (2016) found that 60% of prospective teachers who enrolled in ATCPs across the United States had noneducation bachelor's degrees and received no training on how to teach literacy to their students while 40% of prospective teachers received only minimal training on how to teach literacy. Of the 47 states across America that had ATCPs, nearly 77% of high school ATCP teachers did not receive any literacy instruction while the remaining 23% of high school ATCP teachers received "some preparation" to teach literacy (Lewis-Spector, 2016, p. 9). Literacy is integrated into all subject disciplines; therefore, the preparation of ATCP teachers to teach literacy in high school is not sufficient. Carver-Thomas and Darling-Hammond (2019) found that ATCP teachers completed less coursework than traditionally prepared teachers and taught more students from low-income families. ATCP teachers were often hired to teach

mathematics and science high school classes with minimal or no teacher training (Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2019).

Consequently, some K-12 students will receive literary instruction from ATCP teachers with either no or limited training. To decrease the likelihood of students receiving substandard instruction, Lewis-Spector recommended ATCP teachers participate in a student teaching or field experience with an experienced cooperating teacher prior to teaching their own students.

An additional concern is that although ATCP program administrators required teachers to complete student teaching with a cooperating teacher, they did not require them to complete 30 hours of field experience (Fuller, Pendola, & Young, 2018). When Fuller et al. (2018) investigated field experience requirements for ATCP teachers in the state of Texas, they found that 90% of ATCPs, 83% of ATCPs residing at community colleges, and 75% of regional service center ATCPs did not require prospective teachers to complete a minimum 30-hour field experience before they could be alone with children in the classroom setting. In other states, Fuller et al. found some ATCP teachers completed their field experience over the summer in a setting that was not an accurate reflection of the conditions teachers worked in during the regular school year. The summer school setting was significantly different from the traditional classroom setting because classes had fewer students, teachers used a modified curriculum, and each student had distinct learning expectations (Xu & De Arment, 2017).

Prospective teachers who worked in high-poverty, high-demand school settings and had limited or no field experience encountered considerable challenges as they

lacked the professional experience and knowledge to provide effective instruction for their students (Redding & Smith, 2016). Because ATCP teachers did not receive adequate classroom preparation, they were 150% more likely to leave schools in which more than 50% of the student population were composed of nonCaucasian students (Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2019). Carver-Thomas and Darling-Hammond (2019) noted that public schools in the southern part of the United States had the highest teacher turnover rates, with disproportionately high rates in urban (17%) and rural (15%) areas.

Concerns of Alternative Certified Program Teachers

Curry et al. (2016) identified five themes of concerns among ATCP teachers. The first theme was the concern for students' behavior, needs, and home life. ATCP teachers identified concerns with students' home life as a contributing factor to behavior problems in the classroom. The second theme of education quality and excessive accountability was documented by using pictures and symbols created by ATCP teachers to express their concerns with their ATCP. ATCP teachers expressed 25 concerns about educational quality and accountability through pictures and symbols. For the next theme of issues with administration, ATCP teachers described the pressure of using scripted curriculum units as a roadblock and a one size fits all set of ineffective lesson plans. Administrators encouraged the scripted curriculum, especially for high-poverty schools (Curry et al., 2016).

The inability to establish substantive relationships with others was the fourth theme ATCP teachers identified. ATCP teachers noted the lack of parent involvement in

et al. (2016) found that ATCP teachers identified the lack of work-life balance 34 times, which they classified under the fifth theme of feeling overwhelmed. Curry et al. noted that some of the ATCP teachers underscored the aforementioned themes as their reason for leaving the field of education. NCES (2018) noted that 90.1% of ATCP teachers returned to both the classroom and the ATCP program for their second year, but 79.1% of those ATCP teachers left the classroom by their fifth year.

Flower, McKenna, and Haring (2017) investigated the behavior and classroom management skills of teachers who completed their teacher training through traditional college certification programs and those who completed their teacher training through ATCPs. Flower et al. found that universal approaches to classroom management were taught in more than 95% of the traditional programs, and they noted that teachers received training in how to establish and implement classroom rules, manage the classroom, grade assignments, and communicate with parents. Flower et al. also found that only 58% of ATCP teachers had specific courses or hands-on experiences in the area of behavior and classroom management; conversely, 89% of teachers who attended traditional college certification programs had coursework in behavior and classroom management. Without training and coursework in behavior and classroom management, ATCP teachers felt unprepared to prevent or manage students' behavior problems (Flower et al., 2017).

ATCP teacher support and training was a foundational element of Shulman's theoretical framework, and in the school district in which my study occurred, ATCP

teachers received comprehensive training and support. Teacher preparation was important to both the USD and Gudmundsdottir and Shulman's (1987) three-part PCK framework. The PCK framework comprised knowledge of academic concepts, knowledge of pedagogical content, and knowledge of students' understanding of content (Gudmundsdottir & Shulman, 1987). By narrowing down and clarifying the PCK model, ATCP teachers received content-specific lessons on the core instructional standards in the content areas of mathematics, science, social studies, and language arts (Jing-Jing, 2014). Once experienced educators used the PCK model when teaching academic content to students, they should have exposed ATCP teachers to various pedagogical strategies and modeled the application of these strategies across core content areas (Gudmundsdottir & Shulman, 1987).

A strong alignment between the conceptual framework and the research questions was significant when conducting a research study. During the data collection phase of this study, ATCP teachers provided rich detail about their ATCPs. ATCP teachers' perceptions of preparedness to provide effective classroom instruction was the focus of this study. Therefore, Shulman's conceptual framework about pedagogical content knowledge for effective teacher preparation for ATCP teachers was the focus of my research questions.

ATCP teachers described the training, coursework, careers, and prior knowledge that helped them become stronger teachers. I collected qualitative interview data and used open-ended questions to delve deeper into the ATCP teachers' experiences within their program. I used the software program NVivo when coding the interview data to

help identify emerging themes from the 10 interviews. To strengthen and reinforce ATCPs, I plan to present the themes that emerged to stakeholders from USD during a professional development training session.

Even though the current teacher shortage in public schools across the United States is a significant problem, teacher shortages in America date back to the first half of the 20th Century. During the 1930s, teacher shortages were a concern that continued after the Great Depression (Sherratt, 2016). The shortage of teachers was in the traditional areas of mathematics, science, and the liberal arts. In 1959, a family and consumer sciences report identified a shortage of teachers for classes that included domestic sciences and home economics (see Duncan, Werhan, & Bergh, 2017).

Special education is another area of concern for ATCP teachers and stakeholders who include school board members and school district administrators across the United States. In 2015-2016, 48 states reported a shortage of special education teachers, and the shortage was greater in the rural areas than in suburban and urban areas (Sutcher, Darling-Hammond, & Carver-Thomas, 2019). Chamberlin-Kim, Tarnay, and Wells (2019) used a marketing-lens approach to investigate the factors that contributed to the shortage of special education teachers in school districts across the United States from 1997 to 2018. Chamberlin-Kim et al. found the factors that contributed to the shortage of special education teachers were poor interpersonal relationships with co-workers (94%), the school's location (94%), and the types of programs and supports in the special education program (88%). In 2015, school administrators across the United States opened their schools with substitutes and interns while others consolidated classes to

make up for the teacher shortage of traditional classroom teachers in addition to special education classrooms (Black, 2016). There is not a quick fix to the teacher shortage across the United States, but understanding ATCP teachers' perceptions of the preparation they received may increase the capacity of stakeholders to create effective teacher preparation programs that are similar to the one Shulman identified in his PCK conceptual framework.

Strategies for Teaching Adults in Alternative Teacher Certification Programs

The process of training teachers has evolved from a lecture-driven strategy to a more student-centered approach. One illustration of this shift to a student-centered approach was the emphasis within ATCP classes on teachers modeling and practicing problem-solving strategies (Guerra, Hernandez, Hector, & Crosby, 2015). By modeling and practicing problem-solving strategies, teachers increased their capacity to implement the strategies in their own classroom (Guerra et al., 2015). Guerra et al. (2015) conducted a 2-year study in which they investigated self-identified problems and problem-solving strategies of ATCP teachers at the beginning of their ATCP and at the end of their ATCP. Over a 2-year period, the 12 participants in Guerra et al.'s study received training and reinforcement in the listen-identify-brainstorm-reality-test-encourage problem-solving model.

Guerra et al. (2015) found that ATCP teachers activated self-awareness and self-directed problem-solving skills when they used the listen-identify-brainstorm-reality-test-encourage problem-solving model to determine the solution of a problem faced within the classroom. After monitoring, identifying, evaluating, and processing the self-identified

problems, ATCP teachers who used the model perceived they were in control of their classroom. Guerra et al. concluded that although the model helped them control the problem, ATCP teachers still needed additional opportunities to self-reflect on their teaching skills, to develop multi-tasking strategies to manage the rigors of taking ATCP courses, and teaching full time.

Given the rigors associated with taking ATCP courses and teaching full time, ATCP teachers need applicable time-management strategies. Jennings (2012) recommended that ATCP teachers be provided with lesson plans that they could use within their classrooms. Jennings discussed the evolution of the strategy and the need for ATCP teachers to guide student learning and to model appropriate learning techniques. Van Aalderen-Smeets and Walma Van der Molen (2015) found that face-to-face instruction within their ATCP was the most effective strategy for ATCP teachers.

Providing opportunities for ATCP teachers to collaborate within their ATCP programs is another effective teaching strategy. Moore and Mamiseishvili (2012) conducted an exploratory correlational study in which they investigated the relationship between emotional intelligence and collaborative learning among 157 teachers. With a specific focus on emotional intelligence from Gardner's multiple intelligence theory, Moore and Mamiseishvili used a 7-point WEIP-S Likert-type scale to measure the four constructs of emotional intelligence and the Group Cohesiveness Scale to measure group cohesiveness among all group members. Moore and Mamiseishvili found that participants who communicated their feelings with peers demonstrated higher emotional achievement than those who did not. Moore and Mamiseishvili concluded that

individuals demonstrated higher academic achievement when they communicated their feelings and collaborated with others.

Collaboration was also pivotal in another program called the Comprehensive One-to-One iPad Initiative Model (Nguyen et al., 2016). Nguyen et al. (2016) developed a multi-phase program aimed at promoting ATCP teachers' capacity to use iPads when instructing students and when collaborating with other ATCP teachers. While using the tech-for-you, tech-for-us, and tech-for-them phases of the model, ATCP teachers strengthened their own technology skills, increased their capacity to create technology-based lessons for their classrooms, and increased collaboration with their peers. Nguyen et al. found that collaboration was an effective strategy for ATCP teachers.

A teacher residency program is another effective strategy for preparing ATCP teachers for the classroom. Guha, Hyler, and Darling-Hammond (2017) found that a year-long teacher residency program was an effective strategy for creating partnerships between ATCP teachers and schools and provided hands-on training for teachers. Under the partnership model, ATCP teachers received ATCP training beyond their student teaching. This extended training generally lasted 3 months. By completing the teacher residency, 80-90% of ATCP teachers stayed in their teaching positions for 3 years while 70-80% stayed for 5 years (Guha et al., 2017). Hence, the program was successful in reducing teacher attrition.

Recruiting a diverse set of teachers is a goal of the 50 ATCP teacher residency programs across the nation. Guha et al. (2017) found that the percentage of African ATCP teachers who completed the year-long teacher residency program and

taught for the entire 2015-16 school were more than double that of African American teachers who did not. Because African American ATCP teachers received training through teacher residency programs, they were less likely to leave the profession (Guha et al., 2017).

Preparing ATCP teachers to deal with discipline issues in the classroom is an area of emphasis within ATCP programs. Pankowski and Walker (2016) compared traditional college-graduating teachers and ATCP teachers' ability to motivate students to learn and to deal with noncompliance within the classroom. By allowing ATCP teachers to use simulations as a learning tool, Pankowski and Walker found ATCP teachers improved their classroom preparation, pedagogical, and content knowledge skills and their dispositions. They also noted that ATCP teachers had to correct student behavior at the beginning of unit simulations, but by the end of the simulations, teachers exhibited care and control when interacting with students, which differed from the traditionally trained teachers who used more control than care. Pankowski and Walker further concluded that ATCP teachers used self-regulation as their classroom management style more frequently than traditional teachers did. Pankowski and Walker believed that ATCP teachers needed to find the strategies that worked best for them in their classroom and that ATCPs should prepare teachers to teach their classes effectively.

By equipping ATCP teachers with the strategies they need to be successful, ATCP program leaders increased the capacity of school administrators to assuage the increasing teacher shortage in the United States. The National Center for Education Statistics found that 3.8 million teachers were working in a K-12 classroom during the

2015-2016 school year, and approximately 18% (676,000) of the teachers were teaching through ATCPs (McFarland & Hussar, 2018). Charter schools hired 25% of the ATCP teachers while public schools hired 17% of these teachers (McFarland & Hussar, 2018). High schools hired the most ATCP teachers (25%) while elementary schools hired the least (13%; McFarland & Hussar, 2018).

Given that almost one fifth of America's teachers are from ATCPs from various settings, the teacher shortage across the United States is significant. The level of concern among stakeholders was high as school administrators had to fill teaching positions with people who did not hold a teaching license and were not enrolled in an ATCP (McFarland & Hussar, 2018). This is significant because school administrators recognize the difficulty of preparation for ATCP teachers. McFarland and Hussar's (2018) findings related to my qualitative study and conceptual framework because Shulman's (1986) PCK model had a strong foundation of preparation and support for ATCP teachers.

With the teacher shortage in America's schools increasing each year, researchers sought to identify solutions to the problem. Preparation, support, and communication were three strategies Miller et al. (2019) identified as effective elements of the ATCP they created. Miller et al. created an ATCP program to recruit, prepare, and retain teachers in rural middle school classrooms in the southeastern region of the United States. Since the program's inception, they have had 113 ATCP teachers complete the program and earn their full teaching certification. Miller et al. attributed the growth of their program to the positive reviews of former ATCP teachers who earned their teaching certification. Miller et al. found that stable support from teachers and administrators and

modeling by exemplary teachers were necessary to prepare teachers for the classroom. Miller et al. recommended establishing strong relationships between ATCP teachers, school principals, and ATCP professors as a means of support for ATCP teachers. They believed that ATCP teachers developed strong relationships when they had regular opportunities to communicate with their peers, administrators, and professors.

Like Miller et al. (2019), Sutcher et al. (2019) wanted to find solutions to the teacher shortage in America's schools. Sutcher et al. found that in 2017-2018, school district administrators across the United States hired 109,000 uncertified teachers. They also noted that schools with disproportionately high percentages of students from minority and low socioeconomic backgrounds were more likely to hire uncertified, underprepared, and inexperienced teachers (Sutcher et al., 2019). School administrators from schools with high percentages of students from at-risk backgrounds hired uncertified teachers to reduce class sizes and to ensure students received differentiated instruction. Compounding the problem for those administrators were the numbers of teacher vacancies that far outnumbered the pool of available teacher candidates and the challenges of retaining the teachers they hired (Sutcher et al., 2019). The high attrition rate of teachers has a negative influence on the academic achievements of students from minority and low socioeconomic backgrounds.

One strategy that Sutcher et al. (2019) recommended was increasing teacher salaries in states with significant teacher shortages. Researchers found a decrease in teacher shortages in states that increased teacher salaries (Lindsay, Wan, Berg-Jacobson, Walston, & Redford, 2016). Lindsay et al. (2016) suggested a component summation

approach to determine teacher shortage in a specific district or state. Under this model, educational stakeholders created an itemized list of specific states and school districts that had a large number of teaching vacancies and determined if an increase in teachers' salaries resulted in a decrease in the number of teacher vacancies (Lindsay et al., 2016).

By analyzing five components of teacher supply and demand (teacher retention, ATCP teachers, traditional college-based teachers, migrant certified teachers, and willing-able, but not employed teachers), stakeholders could have determined the severity of the shortage and identified specific components that were contributing factors (Lindsay et al., 2016). With recommendations for decreasing the teacher shortage in the United States and for developing supportive ATCPs, stakeholders may be able to improve ATCP program delivery, thereby increasing ATCP teachers' level of preparedness and decreasing the attrition level among ATCP teachers.

Implications

On the basis of this study's findings, a professional development training may be an appropriate venue to disseminate my results. Three groups of teachers could attend the professional development training: current ATCP teachers, new ATCP hires, and if desired, prior ATCP teachers. I chose a professional development training because I want to fill the gap in practice between the ATCP teachers' preparation and the teaching strategies they wished they knew. This professional development training could occur over a 3-day period (8 hours each day = 24 total hours) in which I describe the professional knowledge ATCP teachers wished they had, the challenges they encountered

before and after COVID-19, and the resources they wished they had to assist in teaching students.

Summary

The problem investigated by this study was the high attrition rate of ATCP teachers in USD. The gap in practice was the difference between ATCP teachers' preparation and the teaching strategies they wished they knew. Because of the national shortage of fully certified teachers, school districts across the United States are hiring ATCP teachers to fill vacant teaching positions. Stakeholders were concerned that ATCP teachers left the profession or the local school district because they may not have received the tools necessary to be successful in the classroom. Therefore, the purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools. Within the literature review, I introduced the conceptual framework for my study, which was Shulman's PCK model. Implications for a project included a 3-day professional development training.

Within Section 2, I review the methodology of my study. I used a basic qualitative research design to investigate the perceptions of ATCP teachers. I interviewed 10 ATCP teachers within USD in a southeastern state. The data collection instrument was a series of semistructured interview questions. After the interviews, I transcribed the interview transcripts. Next, I used NVivo software application to organize and analyze data and to identify and connect emerging themes in the interview data. I used open coding and axial coding to allow themes to emerge.

In Section 3, I describe my project. This section includes an overview of my project, the rationale, review of literature, project evaluation plan, and project implications. In Section 4, I reflect on my study and draw conclusions about the results. This section also includes a description of the project's strengths, limitations, and deliverability. I then provide alternative approaches to address the local problem, personal learning growth as a scholar, and a reflection of the importance of my research. I conclude Section 4 by discussing the potential influence of the project study for positive social change and by providing recommendations for future research.

Section 2: The Methodology

Research Design and Approach

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools. A qualitative study is appropriate for studying a problem to understand a central phenomenon by collecting data from a small group of participants because researchers look for emerging themes through analyzing text (Creswell, 2012).

With the increase in the number of ATCP teachers filling vacancies across the southeastern state, it is necessary to understand ATCP teachers' perceptions of the teacher training they received as well as how their bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences prepared them to teach in K-12 schools. After ATCP teachers described their preparedness to be a teacher, I used the interview data that I collected to identify patterns and themes.

Description of the Qualitative Design

Researchers use a qualitative approach when their overarching purpose is to investigate a phenomenon within its natural setting and to deepen the understanding of the phenomenon through rich, meaningful, and in-depth descriptions (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Yin, 2010). Researchers have various types of qualitative research designs from which to choose. The most common types of qualitative designs are narrative, ethnography, grounded theory, case study, phenomenology, and generic qualitative.

Narrative research is appropriate when researchers provide a rich, detailed account of a phenomenon through the lens of one person's chronological account (Roller & Lavrakas, 2015). The narrative research design was not appropriate for this study because I did not provide a rich description of a particular phenomenon through one person's chronological account. Researchers use an ethnographic design when they seek to conduct an in-depth investigation of a culture, and for an extended period of time, they immerse themselves in the day-to-day lives of the members of the culture and provide an in-depth description of the members' beliefs and values (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because I did not immerse myself in a culture and provide an in-depth investigation of the beliefs and values of the members of a culture.

Qualitative researchers select a grounded theory design when they seek to generate a theory (Glaser & Strauss, 1967). A grounded theory design was not suitable for this study as I did not generate a theory. Researchers use a phenomenological design to understand how individuals experience a phenomenon and the meaning individuals attach to their experience (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). By describing the meaning individuals attach to their experience, phenomenological researchers go beyond individuals' rudimentary perceptions (Yin, 2014). I did not use a phenomenological design because I did not describe the meaning ATCP teachers attached to their experiences.

Researchers who use a case study design investigate a bounded system within its natural context, collect in-depth and multiple forms of data, and provide a descriptive

analysis of the system (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). This bounded system can be a specific person, program, or event (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The varied forms of data researchers collect in a case study are interviews, archival records, field notes, and physical artifacts and the process of collecting and analyzing data are iterative, meaning they are repeated and concurrent (Yin, 2014). Researchers use an iterative process to ensure that they cannot glean any additional information from participants (Kalpokaite & Radivojevic, 2019). When researchers cannot glean any additional information from participants, they reach data saturation (Kalpokaite & Radivojevic, 2019). ATCPs are part of a single bounded system; therefore, I considered using a case study design. However, upon considering the iterative nature of the data collection, analysis process, and the use of multiple forms of data, I determined a case study design was not appropriate for this study.

Justification

The basic qualitative design, also referred to as a generic and interpretive design, is appropriate when researchers investigate the perceptions, attitudes, or beliefs of participants regarding a particular phenomenon (Kennedy, M., 2016). Rich, detailed information is what qualitative researchers seek to collect as they enter a setting and to describe a phenomenon. Patton (2015) stressed the importance of analyzing the data and identifying themes within the data. Kahlke (2014) described the advantages of using a basic qualitative design as a methodology, noting that researchers who conducted basic qualitative studies were able to identify different perspectives and to identify gaps in the body of knowledge and areas for further research.

Upon identifying gaps in the body of knowledge, researchers develop research questions and increase the body of knowledge (Kahlke, 2014). Kennedy, M. (2016) discussed the significance of asking participants to describe their perceptions of an experience for which there was limited knowledge and the appropriateness of researchers using the qualitative generic design to promote an understanding of an experience while not being "bound by specific methods to generate knowledge" (p. 132). The basic qualitative design was appropriate for this project because I wanted to glean a comprehensive understanding of ATCP teachers' perceptions of preparation from ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences to teach in K-12 schools, and by asking probing questions to teachers' responses, I could provide rich in-depth descriptions of their perceptions.

Participants

Criteria for Participant Selection

At the beginning of the 2019-20 school year, there were approximately 3,000 fulltime teachers, including 105 ATCP teachers and 2,000 part time teachers in 85 schools across USD. The target population for this study was all 105 ATCP teachers who were enrolled in an ATCP at the time of this study and who worked as a teacher at one of USD's 85 schools (see U.S. Department of Education, 2019a).

The age range of potential participants was from 25 to 60+ years old. All ATCP teachers were enrolled in 1 of the 6 ATCP programs that lasted 3 years. These programs included graduate-level courses such as 21st Century Teacher: Authentic Assessment and Read to Succeed: Content Area Reading and Writing for all ATCP teachers (U.S.

Department of Education, PACE, 2017). In addition to taking graduate-level courses, first-year ATCP teachers who were in the first year of their ATCP program had to attend a 3 to 5 day noncredit training seminar. As part of the participant selection criteria, I used all first-, second-, and third-year ATCP teachers as possible participants for my study. Although first-year ATCP teachers did not have the breadth and depth of experiences that second- and third-year ATCP teachers had, they were also participants in this study. I included first-year ATCP teachers because I wanted to provide a comprehensive description of the phenomenon.

This study's participants were from six different ATCPs, with two from Teach Kids (a pseudonym), two from Teach for America, two from PACE, one from Teachers of Tomorrow, one from the American Board for the Certification of Teacher Excellence, one from the American Board, and one from Advanced Fine Arts. Seven of the ATCP teachers were in the first year of their program, two were in their second year, and one was in her third year. Eight teachers taught at the middle school level (Grade 6–8), one taught at the elementary level (Grades K–5), and one taught at the high school level (Grades 9–12). They taught different academic disciplines and elective courses, including English/language arts (two), mathematics (two), science (two), special education (two), dance (one), and business/entrepreneurship (one).

Justification for the Number of Participants

In determining the sample size for my study, I considered the purpose of my study and the need to conduct an in-depth analysis of the data and provide an in-depth description of the phenomenon (see Sandelowski, 1995). I planned to interview

approximately 10 teachers as I wanted to conduct a deep inquiry into ATCP teachers' experiences. Kuzel (1992) noted that 12 to 20 participants were an adequate number for a qualitative study. The sample number does not need to be too high because qualitative researchers do not seek to generalize their findings to the broader population (Sandelowski & Barroso, 2003). Kuzel's participant number is higher than Johnson and Christensen's (2004) participant number of six to 12. Langford, Schoenfeld, and Izzo (2002) and Morgan (1997) concluded that six to 10 participants were an appropriate number to reach data saturation in a basic qualitative study. After determining the approximate number of participants to meet data saturation for this study, I determined the procedures for gaining access to participants.

Gaining Access to Participants

I sought approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board to conduct this study (06-12-20-0398677). After the proposal was approved, I received a letter of cooperation from USD for gaining access to all ATCP teachers. Then I worked with the school district director of certification to determine all ATCP teachers. USD maintained an updated list of the contact information for all ATCP teachers, and the district-level director of certification referred to that list. Because the school district's director of certification would not give me email access to ATCP teachers, the school district's director of certification emailed the invitation letter to all ATCP teachers. The email included the informed consent form and a description of the nature and purpose of my study and the related procedures for contacting me through my Walden University email address and my personal phone number.

Method for Establishing Researcher-Participant Working Relationship

Prior to beginning the interview phase of the study, I established a working relationship with participants by exhibiting respect (see Creswell, 2009). At the beginning of the interview protocol, I reviewed key points from the consent form with each participant prior to asking any interview questions. I encouraged participants' choices by allowing them to complete their interview through Skype, Zoom, or phone because of the COVID-19 pandemic and the social distancing mandates. Participants chose a time and day that was convenient for them.

Methods for Ethical Protection of Participants

I protected the rights of each participant by providing him or her with an informed consent form in which I described the potential risks associated with participating in my study. Participating in the study may have caused stress above normal daily conversation. Participants signed the informed consent form, acknowledging that they read and understand the information in the form and agreed to participate in the study. Included in the consent form was the statement that at any time a participant could withdraw from my study without consequences. I protected the confidentiality of each participant by assigning him or her a unique identification number that only I could link to the participant. Data were locked in a secure location in my office and will be stored for 5 years in accordance with Walden University's Institutional Review Board policy. After 5 years, all data and interview transcripts will be deleted from my laptop, and hard copies will be shredded.

Data Collection

Interviews

A semistructured interview protocol (see Appendix B) was the data collection instrument for this study. The semistructured interview protocol is appropriate when researchers want to ask open-ended interview questions and to facilitate and promote interactions with their participants and when they need the flexibility to delve deeply into participants' responses by asking probing questions (Lodico, Spaulding, & Voegtle, 2010). By asking probing questions, researchers can obtain rich, in-depth responses from participants (Lodico et al., 2010). By using a semistructured interview format, I could ask participants to expand on their responses to gain additional insight about their experiences. ATCP teachers described in their own words their perceptions of their preparation from ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences for K-12 schools. I asked ATCP teachers questions created for this study to keep the interview focused on the topic of teacher preparation.

Upon receiving participants' informed consent forms, the school district's director of certification gave me the participants' district email addresses, which I used throughout the remainder of the study to communicate with participants. After receiving the email addresses of ATCP teachers, I contacted them via email and asked them to send me the days and times they were available for an interview and their preferred method of interview. Participants had the option of completing the interview via Zoom, Skype, or telephone as face-to-face meetings were inappropriate during the pandemic. I was the only person who had access to my email correspondence with ATCP teachers. Each

participant gave me permission to audio record the semistructured interview, and the interviews lasted from 45 to 60 minutes. My data collection commenced when I began recording the interviews. If participants did not provide detailed responses, I calmly asked them probing follow-up questions to gather more detailed responses, without putting pressure on them.

Systems for Keeping Track of Data

I transcribed each interview after the interview concluded to ensure I documented all the nuances of the ATCP teacher's response. Throughout the data collection period, I maintained a research log in which I documented the location, time and day of the interviews, and the ATCP teacher's identification code. Throughout each interview, I used a reflective journal to document ATCP teachers' body language (if using Zoom or Skype), emerging ideas from the interview, and connections that I made during the data collection process. Bogdan and Biklen (2007) described the significance of a detailed, accurate, and reflective journal. In order to safeguard the interview data, I locked the external audio recorder, research log, and reflective journal in a lockbox, to which only I had a key and access, within my home office.

Role of the Researcher

I am a classroom teacher at an elementary school in USD. I did not serve in the role of a supervisor or administrator for any of the ATCP teachers nor did I have any personal connections with any of the ATCP teachers who participated in my study; in addition, no ATCP teachers worked at my elementary school. Nevertheless, my role of a fellow teacher and employee in USD might have affected the participants' responses.

Minimizing bias during the data collection and analysis process was a challenge for me. I recognized that I had biases and preconceived notions regarding education in the target southeastern region of the United States because I have taught in this region for 19 years. To minimize bias, I maintained a reflective journal, made audio recording for all interviews, and included all negative or discrepant cases.

Data Analysis

Analysis of Interviews

I transcribed each interview within 24 hours, using my personal computer, and then I began the coding procedures by inserting the transcripts into the NVivo software application. NVivo is a computer software application that researchers use to help them organize and analyze data and to identify emerging relationships across the interview transcripts (QSR International, 2017). NVivo first analyzed one interview and then when additional interviews were added to the program, relationships between repeated themes emerged (QSR International, 2017). I used two coding procedures to identify emerging themes in the data. Open coding was appropriate for analyzing each transcript and for labeling repeated concepts.

Next, I used axial coding to review the open codes and to develop clusters of concepts. Themes emerged from the interview transcripts when I identified repeated words or uncommon words and key words in context and then compared content across interview transcripts (Creswell, 2012). After axial coding, I analyzed the axial codes and identified emerging themes. The themes helped me answer my two research questions.

Evidence of Quality

I increased the accuracy and credibility of the findings by using member checking procedures and reviewing the NVivo analytical codes before identifying emerging themes in the data. Member checking is a step in the data analysis phase in which participants review the initial themes that emerge from the data (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). Participants reviewed my preliminary findings to identify initial themes they believed did not accurately represent their intentions.

While analyzing the data, I identified discrepant cases and included these cases in the results section of my study to increase the overall credibility of my findings. By including the discrepant cases, I improved the quality of my study by describing data that combated confirmatory bias (Morrow, 2005). I included discrepant cases as evidence that I did not provide a simple interpretation of the data (Morrow, 2005).

Data Analysis Results

A basic qualitative research design was used for this study. After emailing all 105 ATCP teachers in USD, 10 of those teachers volunteered to participate in semistructured interviews. All participants taught full time while enrolled in an ATCP. Interviews were transcribed and a synthesis of the results was completed in order to answer each of the research questions.

To ensure the quality of the data, I used NVivo to help organize and analyze data and to identify emerging relationships across the interview transcripts. I reviewed the data multiple times using open coding. Twenty-one open codes were found, including

relationship building with students, learning the methodology of teaching, and behavior management.

To begin the axial coding process, I developed clusters by identifying connections and relationships among the open codes. Five clusters were identified and then the clusters were grouped and aligned to the research questions. The five clusters were teaching career standards, prior experiences, pedagogical practices, professional development, and instructional support. The axial codes were reviewed again and arranged on a Microsoft Word document to allow me to manipulate the data. After rearranging the axial codes into different categories, I identified the emerging themes. I went back again to the transcripts to provide evidence and examples to support each of the emerging themes. After the codes were established and reviewed, themes emerged based on the two guiding research questions. After identifying the five themes, I sent the preliminary findings to the 10 interviewees and they all participated in member checking. The interviewees reviewed and validated the preliminary findings. All 10 participants then stated, "My member checking is complete."

Research Question 1 was as follows: What are ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness to be a fulltime teacher after being trained in the ATCPs in USD? Themes emerged from data analysis. I used the themes to answer the research question revealing ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness to be a teacher in K-12 schools after being trained in an ATCP. The themes are as follows: prepared for College and Career Readiness Standards (CCRSs), prepared from prior experiences, and prepared

to integrate effective pedagogical practices that contribute to ATCP teachers' positive perceptions of preparation.

Theme 1: Prepared for College and Career Readiness Standards

This theme includes a summary of the 10 participants' perceptions of their preparedness to teach CCRS. The CCRSs are the core content skills students need to master to be successful in their postsecondary educational and professional endeavors. All 10 ATCP teachers felt prepared to teach full time as they had worked in various professional fields and had a clear understanding of the skills students needed to succeed in their chosen career fields. Participant 1 stated, "I modeled for my students the soft skills they would need in the professional field, and the students had opportunities to develop soft skills in my classroom." Because of their prior experience working in the fields of science, Participant 1 and Participant 7 believed they could seamlessly integrate science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) into their classrooms. Participant 1 stated, "I wanted to foster a desire for students to go into those fields since I had a master's in science and knew there were a lot of job openings in STEM." Participant 7, who worked in the medical field, encouraged her students to learn the competencies needed by professionals in the medical fields by participating in job shadowing programs. Participant 7 stated, "I always fell back on what I've experienced as a student and I liked teachers who really knew what it was like out in the job field, so they were my role models."

In addition to having a clear understanding of the required skills, participants felt prepared to establish a link between classroom content and professional experience. Two

participants established this link by bringing in experts within pertinent fields to speak to the students. Participant 1 described an instance in which an expert from a particular field asked her eighth-grade students to investigate how much they could make in that field and to determine what it would take to "move out of your mom's house, drive a nice car, and realize what you've got to do." Participant 9 had an entrepreneur speak to her business and entrepreneurship students to link classroom content to real-world situations. Participant 9 also designed a job preparation simulation wherein students became entrepreneurs and promoted their product on a Shark Tank presentation. Participant 9 stated, "We started with personal finance, so they would get an understanding of entrepreneurship and then kids made new inventions while parents lined the halls as investors for kids' businesses." Through these experiences, participants believed students learned about different careers before they graduated from high school.

Theme 1 answered Research Question 1 because it provided examples of ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness to be a fulltime teacher after being trained in the ATCPs in USD. After enrolling in an ATCP, participants were taught pedagogical strategies by an ATCP instructor to effectively integrate College and Career Readiness Standards into their classroom. Prior careers and bachelor's degrees were utilized by ATCP teachers to foster students' desire and knowledge to make informed decisions about a future career.

Theme 2: Prepared From Prior Experiences

The second theme to emerge was ATCP teachers felt prepared to teach because of their prior experiences in different settings. The 10 participants had varying and multiple

noncontractual and contractual teaching experiences, including long-term substitute teaching, teaching assistant positions, fulltime K–6 teaching positions, and university level teaching. Participant 1 had distinct prior teaching experience as she intermittently taught English in South Korea to over 100 kindergarteners over a 4-year period. Participant 1 stated, "When we were in session, we were teaching English to kindergarteners and doing activities, so when I went back to my classroom, I used many of the teaching strategies that I learned."

Participants perceived that other experiences prepared them to teach in a K-12 classroom. Three participants reported that raising children prepared them for the classroom. Participant 10 often used life experiences of her teenaged daughter to connect with her students. Participant 10 stated, "I understand my students better and the more experiences that I include into my classroom, the more of a role model I became." Participant 1 described her experiences raising a child with a disability and the efficacy of sensory-based strategies in the home setting. Students that had physical or learning disabilities may have had deficits in reading, math, or writing, but their mental intellect and senses may not have be affected (Foster, 2020). Therefore, sensory-based instruction may increase learning because it uses a students' strength as a tool to teach students with a disability. After enrolling in the ATCP program and beginning her teaching career, Participant 1 used sensory-based strategies in her classroom and found they were effective for students with and without disabilities. Participant 1 stated, "From the first day, I just realized that just like my kid, sensory-based instruction helped take some of the agitation out of the room." Participant 6 taught at a dance studio while she attended

college, and through her experience at the dance studio, she learned how to manage behavior, engage students, use intonation as a teaching strategy, and to project her voice throughout instruction. Participant 6 stated, "I was stuck in the classroom with many kindergarteners and I was not formally trained, so I remembered experiences back in the studio taking care of 2 year old children crying. I had to just figure it out." Four participants referenced their experiences coaching basketball, volleyball, baseball, and soccer. Participant 7 believed high school students who participated in sports had the ability to focus on achieving a goal and students would leverage that ability to help them advance in their professional careers.

Participants also perceived that their prior experiences observing other teachers were factors in preparing ATCP teachers to teach in a K-12 classroom. All 10 ATCP teachers referenced their childhood experiences wherein they observed the relational and instructional practices of effective teachers. Three of the participants' parents were K-12 teachers, and they helped their parents grade papers and learned how to interact with students with a disability. Participant 3 watched her parents successfully "control the sass from students." Four participants learned effective strategies from their former K-12 teachers. Participant 10 discussed her positive experience with her fifth-grade teacher, noting that he challenged her to use metacognitive practices to synthesize information. Participant 10 also noted that she challenged her advanced students in a similar manner. Participant 10 stated, "I challenged each of my students to get involved in discussions, involved in collective grief management, and make a raw connection between home and our classroom environment." Participant 1 grew up in a military home and had to learn

to adapt to a new school every couple of years. She struggled adapting to some of the school settings. Because of her experiences as a child, Participant 1 stressed that she went above and beyond the call of duty to create an accepting and safe learning for military children. Participant 1 stated, "I really knew how it was being a military brat myself, and I had many years where I went to several different schools in one school year."

Participants' experiences as undergraduate students were additional factors that helped prepare them to teach. Six of the 10 participants referenced their experiences in their bachelor's degree programs and the instructional practices their professors used. Participant 6 referenced her kinesiology course content as significant as she learned how to do the splits correctly and how to help her students from her elementary dance class avoid injuries. Two participants believed they were prepared to teach mathematics at the elementary level because they took advanced-level mathematics courses as undergraduates. Participant 2 stated, "I used my math classes to teach the required one hour a day of just math to my special education students, so I just went to the basic skills to teach my class." Participant 8 believed she developed a strong understanding of fundamental mathematics concepts while earning her bachelor's degree; hence, she was able to differentiate her instructional practices to help two sixth-grade students whose mathematics achievement scores were disproportionately low when compared to their grade-level peers.

Learning to overcome hardships they encountered as children was the final factor participants referenced. Participant 2 grew up in a low-income, high-crime city in the

northeast part of the United States, and many people believed she would never be able to overcome her circumstances and be successful. Participant 2 referenced her childhood experiences when interacting with her students, and she reminded them they had the ability to make something of themselves despite their current circumstances. Participant 1 stated, "I had Child Protective Services in my life for quite a while, so I was able to use my own stories to help my students." Participant 5 had pneumonia as a child, and she often told her students: "Don't let disappointments take over you. Just focus on the good part of it and not the bad part of life." Participant 10 was another interviewee who was transparent with her students about her childhood as she described her parents' divorce, the death of her mother, and her uncle's cancer battle. She believed that sharing those childhood experiences enabled her to bond with her students and she was "not afraid to cry or get mad when there is an injustice in a novel. I was not afraid to use prior experiences to evoke a feeling of love or security within my students." As participants shared their prior experiences, students understood that they would encounter challenges in their life, and they had the ability to overcome those challenges.

Theme 2 answered research question 1 because it provided examples of ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness to be fulltime teachers after being trained in the ATCPs in USD. All 10 participants had varying and multiple noncontractual and contractual teaching experiences prior to enrolling in an ATCP. Incorporating prior experiences as assistant teachers, coaches, parents, and students, ATCP teachers integrated effective pedagogical strategies they learned. Some of the prior experiences

led to making strong connections with students who had disabilities, divorce, and death in their lives.

Theme 3: Prepared to Integrate Effective Pedagogical Practices

The participants provided insight regarding the preparation they received to integrate effective pedagogical practices. Building a positive interpersonal relationship with students was one of many pedagogical practices taught in an ATCP. Six out of the 10 participants underscored the need to develop positive interpersonal relationships with students. Participants noted that ATCP instructors emphasized the importance of the relationship-building process between teachers and students throughout the ATCP training. Participant 7 saw fewer behavior problems within her class because she built relationships with her students. Participant 7 stated, "I knew behavior management was a big thing because we learned about behavior management strategies over and over again." Through the diversity and racism training she received in her ATCP, participant 2 learned the importance of knowing her students' backgrounds and interests to develop positive interpersonal relationships with them. Participant 2 stated the phrase "teach with love" several times during the interview. Participant 10 believed effective teachers understood "that students are still defining themselves and have an excitement to learn. We're still their rock and it may get tricky, but we are always there to help light their fire "

ATCP instructors stressed the importance of establishing an effective classroom management plan. Five of the 10 participants were confident in their ability to manage student behavior, and they attributed their confidence to the preparation they received in

their ATCPs. Throughout her interview, participant 1 used the term "relationship building" when discussing effective behavior management because ATCP instructors taught her that teachers manage deviant behavior when they have an interpersonal relationship with their students. Participant 8 discussed the importance of promoting positive behavior management in her classroom the first week of school by developing relationships, setting expectations, and holding students accountable, "but every room is different and expectations change once you get to know your kids." Participant 2 and Participant 5 noted their ATCPs' pedagogical preparation and training in behavior management systems as integral components of their training program.

Participants learned the methodology of teaching. Participant 1 and Participant 8 believed they gained a comprehensive understanding of the various methods of teaching in their ATCP program. Participant 1 received pedagogical training on how to use instrumental music and a diffuser to activate all students' senses. Participant 1 stated, "I used music the whole time, instrumental is the kids' favorite. For example, I used NASA as a backdrop for a unit, and I included space music for imagery activities." Sensory-based instruction was an integral part of Participant 1's pedagogical repertoire because she had several students with disabilities in her regular education classroom. ATCP instructors modeled sensory-based instruction for ATCP teachers. One ATCP instructor taught Participant 4 how to integrate technology into her instruction while another instructor told Participant 2 to "never sit down while teaching. You will stand and police your kids to help manage student behavior."

Most participants reported effective modeling and lesson planning preparation by ATCP instructors before they entered the classroom. Participant 1, Participant 7, and Participant 8 learned how to create lesson plans during their ATCP training, and their ATCP instructors gave ATCP teachers time to collaborate with each other and write engaging lessons during the training sessions. Participant 4 learned how to write an Individualized Education Plan that she believed was an essential skill at the middle school level. Participant 4 stated, "I learned about the proper wording to prevent legal mistakes. This way, I felt like I was prepared walking into the students' meetings." Teaching and unpacking the state teaching standards were significant components of Participant 1's ATCP. Unpacking state teaching standards meant that teachers analyzed the teaching expectations for each subject taught that school year. State teaching standards were interwoven throughout each lesson, and since Participant 1 learned how to unpack the standards, she was able to model how to unpack the standards with her middle school students.

Further analysis of the participants' responses revealed that the number of observations and the extent of feedback from ATCP instructors varied across the programs. The ATCP instructor for Participant 8 conducted one to two observations a week and provided constructive criticism during her first year of teaching whereas the Participant 8 stated, "The observations would last ten to fifteen minutes to see if I was ok. I had an open relationship with her, so I could always go to her for help." The ATCP instructor for Participant 2 conducted one to two observations a month and provided immediate and effectual feedback. All 10 participants were observed at least once by

USD representatives during the school year, and they all discussed the significance of observations to get concrete feedback on their teaching. USD administrators observed three of the 10 participants, but ATCP instructors did not observe those same three teachers. Participant 3 was grateful for her school district mentor who brought in a content specialist to help Participant 3 in areas that she needed additional training, "so anytime I needed help in a certain area, she would search for the help that I needed." Participant 5 had similar assistance from USD as she had a school district mentor who helped her create collaborative learning groups, provided one-on-one training on the district's mathematics program, and taught her how to assess student work.

The USD assigned an on-staff mentor at seven of the 10 participants' schools to observe ATCP teachers and provide them with feedback, assist ATCP teachers with classroom management, and to answer their questions regarding classroom instruction. All 10 participants praised and expressed overwhelming appreciation for the teachers at their schools. Fellow teachers in the school were not assigned to the participants, but they did help with lesson planning, technology issues, and student discipline issues. Participant 5 stated, "My grade level teachers worked together with me because they had similar situations with students. I became a better teacher because I was working with my peers which is something that I couldn't get from a book." Participant 7 reciprocated the help that she received from the teachers at her school by sharing her expertise in technology integration from prior medical work experiences to "help teach peer teachers about different technology programs or answer questions because I was familiar with

technology due to my prior medical career." All 10 participants perceived that feedback from observations and help from teachers at their schools were essential to their success.

Theme 3 answered Research Question 1 because it provided examples of ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness to be fulltime teachers after being trained in the ATCPs in the USD. ATCP teachers felt prepared to teach because they participated in hands-on pedagogical practices before entering their own classroom. Some pedagogical training included racism and diversity training, establishing an effective classroom management plan, and building interpersonal relationships with students. Observations and feedback also increased ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation before and throughout the ATCP program.

Research Question 2 was as follows: In addition to ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences, what else do ATCP teachers at USD wish they had to prepare them to teach in K-12 schools? Themes emerged from data analysis. The themes were able to answer the research question by revealing additional resources ATCP teachers' wish they had to prepare them to teach in K-12 schools. Themes included the need for continued professional development training and the lack of instructional support that contribute to ATCP teachers' description of resources they wish they had to prepare them for the classroom.

Theme 4: The Need for Continued Professional Development

ATCP teachers wished they had continual professional development training to prepare them to teach in a K–12 setting. Most participants identified specific district-based technology as their areas of weakness, including PowerSchool and Review 360.

PowerSchool is a technology program into which teachers entered their attendance, lunch counts, and students' grades and access parent contact information. Eight of the 10 participants never received training on how to use the PowerSchool program. Review 360 was a program teachers used to document parent-teacher conferences and discipline measures. Six participants discussed the need to train teachers on how to use the program. Participant 1 stated, "There was an assumption that I should already know how to use programs set up by the school and school district even though no one actually told us how to set them up." Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, five participants discussed their need for training on how to use Google Classroom so they could provide virtual instruction to their students. Teachers used Google Classroom to post instructional videos, lesson plans, and expectations for assignments. Participant 8 stated, "I had to learn about Google Classroom all by myself and that was the same with PowerSchool. I was told to ask my neighbor."

ATCP teachers identified areas of weakness in their teaching preparation, which included how to teach SPED, English for speakers of other languages (ESOL), and struggling students. Three participants noted their need for professional development training on how to implement IEPs in the general education classroom. Participant 2 was a special education teacher who witnessed general education teachers not implementing IEPs and Section 504 plans, which was a violation of either the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act or Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. Because an IEP and a Section 504 plan are legal documents, all teachers, including special area teachers, must implement the accommodations in a student's IEP or Section 504 plan.

Participant 2 spent many days helping train general education teachers on how to implement a student's IEP or Section 504 Plan. Participant 1 was the only interviewee who needed professional development training on how to teach ESOL students while Participant 2 was the only participant to request professional development training on how to "incorporate multiculturalism and relevant literature into the classroom to teach using culturally-relevant resources. I knew that the content could relate to my students and it was relevant, but I didn't know how to incorporate it."

Theme 4 answered Research Question 2 because it provided examples of additional resources ATCP teachers wished they had to prepare them to teach in K-12 schools. ATCP teachers wished they had continual professional development training to prepare them before and throughout the ATCP program. Specific professional development training desires included the following district-based technology:

PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom. ATCP teachers described their lack of technological knowledge during the COVID-19 pandemic. Another professional development training was requested for implementation of SPED services and pedagogical strategies to teach ESOL and struggling students.

Theme 5: The Lack of Instructional Support

During the interviews, many participants identified the lack of instructional support from their ATCP. Five participants described their lack of help or training from their alternative program. Participant 3 noted that she wanted her ATCP instructors to help her develop classroom expectations and the beginning of the class activities, and to build resources for her classroom. Participant 5 wanted her ATCP instructors to include

training on how to implement pedagogical practices, classroom management strategies, and testing procedures and strategies on how to resolve conflicts between students.

Participant 6 expressed a desire to receive training and support in classroom management, stating, "I had no training, no testing to get into the program, no advisor, no mentor, no help at all." Participant 10 described the feeling of entering the classroom without ATCP support as "a system that is setting everyone up for failure. People believed that when you were young, you had a teacher, so just take this test and you'll be a teacher too." Four of the five aforementioned participants were thankful for the support they received from USD teachers and administrators. Participants noted that teachers and administrators answered their questions and provided the requisite training they should have received in their ATCPs.

All 10 participants described the lack of support from parents during the spring of 2020 when the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic caused schools across the United States to close in-person instruction and educators taught virtually using Zoom and Google Meets. Participants noted the poor assignment completion rates among their students during the COVID-19 pandemic and the lack of parental support they received in the home setting. Participants believed the parents should be held accountable for their children's work completion rates. Half of the participants noted that students did not submit their daily assignments. Participant 3, Participant 5, Participant 8, Participant 9, and Participant 10 had disproportionately low assignment completion rates, and Participant 8 failed 19 of her 140 students. Participant 9 stated, "I had to follow up with the parents by telling them their child is failing my class this quarter, but I heard back

from very few parents." The unwillingness of parents to ensure their children attended virtual instruction sessions was another instance in which parents did not provide instructional support. Participants provided instruction through the Zoom platform during the pandemic; however, seven participants reported that many of their students did not attend the virtual instruction sessions. Participant 8 noted that only 20 of her 90 students attended the virtual instruction sessions. Participant 8 stated, "I had an old school type of mentality of how learning should work, model the strategies, do the explorative activities, but bottom line, if they don't come to class, I can't help the kids." Participants expressed frustration about the school district not requiring students to attend the virtual instruction sessions. According to Participant 3, the poor student attendance rates and the lack of student participation at the virtual instruction sessions were causes "of a lot of stress in my life. I had headaches all the time because I had to contact kids twice a week with a call, grade everything, and review old content."

Ambiguous grading procedures throughout the COVID-19 pandemic by school district administrators was another area for which some participants reported lacking support. Because of the lack of or limited support within the home setting, USD district administrators, with support from the state department of education, prohibited teachers from teaching new content standards and giving students zeros for not submitting assignments. USD administrators also informed teachers that students' fourth quarter grades could not be lower than their third quarter grades. Participant 9 and Participant 10 found that students stopped submitting assignments upon learning that teachers would not grade their assignments. Participant 10 stated, "As you can imagine, when middle school

students figured out that they weren't going to be graded, they stopped doing anything. I was terrified of what to do next." Both Participant 5 and Participant 9 cited the precipitous decline in the assignment completion rates once students found out that their overall grades would not be lower than their third quarter grades. Participant 8 discussed the limited effort students put forth on tests and quizzes because students knew they would not be held accountable for their performance. Participant 8 stated, "In fifth grade alone, parents and students were living out of the zoned school area, Internet was inconsistent, and now this. Teachers didn't have a chance." Because of a lack of accountability from the state, school district, and teachers, students did not perform to their potential.

Participants also discussed the lack of support from fellow teachers. Participants discussed the poor collegial relationships among teachers during the COVID-19 lockdown. Participant 2 and Participant 4 were SPED teachers who reached out to general education teachers with the hope of providing SPED instruction to specific students, but the general education teachers did not respond to the participants.

Participant 4 stated, "Teachers didn't want to listen to my ideas because I was in an alternative program." Participant 6 expressed dissatisfaction when teachers refused to send students a link to her Zoom dance class, thereby students were not able to attend her class.

Participants identified a lack of instructional supplies because they did not have all the materials needed to support their instruction. Three participants reported a lack of nonconsumable teaching materials in their classrooms. Participant 6 did not have a

SMARTBoard and was unable to play music or to help her students visualize dance routines, but other teachers at her school had the interactive technology tool. Participant 7 wanted lab equipment for her chemistry and physics classes while Participant 8 wanted mini dry-erase boards and math manipulatives like fraction dice and plastic food items. Three participants wanted consumable supplies. Participant 7 stated, "I want consumable materials for life science experiments. Kids learn a lot better when they have the right supplies for learning." Participant 8 requested big post-it notes for class discussions while Participant 10 taught novel studies and needed novels in which students could write their ideas. Participants also requested technological instructional materials to support their instructional practices. Participant 1 needed access to application/software programs including GIM kit, Legends of Learning, Nytro Type, and Learning Blade. She believed those computer programs enhanced student engagement and were appropriate for promoting students' content knowledge. Participant 3 described why she wanted access to commonlit.org. She explained that this program "integrates learning standards, short stories, spelling, genre, reading, guiding questions, and assessments to my instruction."

Theme 5 answered Research Question 2 because it provided examples of additional resources ATCP teachers wished they had to prepare them to teach in K-12 schools. ATCP teachers identified the lack of instructional support that contributed to a description of resources they wish they had to prepare them for the classroom.

Instructional support was lacking in training from their ATCP, parental support during the COVID-19 pandemic, and ambiguous grading procedures. Additional instructional

support was lacking from fellow teachers and from instructional supplies because they did not have all the materials needed to support their instruction.

Evidence of Quality

To ensure accuracy and credibility in my study, I used member checking for the process of review and validation by the participants (Birt, Scott, Carvers, Campbell, & Walker, 2016). Member checking is a step in the data analysis process wherein participants review the initial themes that emerge from the data (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). All 10 participants participated in member checking and verified the accuracy of the initial themes. No changes or recommendations were presented by any of the participants. I also used a research log during the data collection phase. In my research log, I documented the location, time, and day of each interview, and the ATCP teacher's identification code. I also kept a reflective journal in which I wrote down the participants' body language, emerging ideas from interviews, and connections that I made during the data collection process. Biases were recorded in my reflective journal by bracketing out my perceptions.

While analyzing the data, a discrepant case emerged. I included the case in the results section of my study. I included the discrepant case to increase the accuracy and credibility of my results. I also included discrepant cases to combat confirmatory bias (Morrow, 2005). During data analysis procedures, a discrepant case emerged within theme 2. Although 9 out of 10 participants incorporated prior experiences from contractual and noncontractual teaching, one participant had distinct prior teaching experience. She intermittently taught English in South Korea to over 100 kindergarteners

over a four-year period. Teaching overseas was an immersive experience for the participant which provided specific details that helped answer research question 1.

Project Deliverable

Based on the findings from this basic qualitative study, I created a professional development training that trains ATCP teachers in the implementation and use of USD's technology initiatives. The professional development training also includes strategies for promoting parents' ability to support their children's academic success in the home setting. I developed a 3-day professional development training for ATCP teachers, new ATCP teachers, and former ATCP teachers if they choose to attend. The professional development training will be presented virtually using PowerPoint presentations and professional development training guides that includes an outline of the professional development presentations. All ATCP teachers are able to record notes in a professional development training guide electronically or they may print a paper copy of the professional development training guide while actively participating in instructional simulations.

Instructional simulations provide an instructor-modeled navigation of USD's technology initiatives including PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom. Additional professional development training content provide strategies for promoting parents' ability to support their children academically in the home including organizational learning tools, creating a learning environment at home, and training on the use of Google Classroom. These simulations and strategies are integrated with Shulman's (1987) PCK conceptual framework of knowledge that is distinct to teachers.

Professional development training participants gain the knowledge of subject matter, pedagogical practice, and how to teach. My goals in this project are to increase ATCP teachers' knowledge of technology initiatives and strategies for promoting parents' ability to support their students at home using a virtual learning platform.

Summary

The problem investigated in this study was the high attrition rate of ATCP teachers in USD. Stakeholders including USD's board of directors and school administrators were concerned that ATCP teachers left the profession or the school district because they may not have received the tools needed to be successful in the classroom. Therefore, the purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools. I interviewed 10 ATCP teachers who were enrolled in ATCP programs while they taught full time in K-12 schools. Data were collected using semistructured interview questions. After data were collected and analyzed, five themes emerged. The themes from this study were as follows: prepared for CCRSs, prepared from prior experiences, prepared to integrate effective pedagogical practices, the need for continued professional development training, and the lack of instructional support.

Shulman's (1987) PCK model was the conceptual framework for this study.

Shulman's model is based on three types of knowledge distinct to teachers: (a)

knowledge of subject matter, (b) knowledge of pedagogical practice, and (c) knowledge of how to teach (Shulman, 1986, 1987). Ravgiala (2002) described knowledge of subject

matter as proficiency and understanding of curriculum content in order to provide direct instruction with confidence. Knowledge of pedagogical practice was the understanding of teaching practices (Ravgiala, 2002). The convergence of understanding the fundamental concepts of an academic discipline and understanding the teaching practices were the knowledge of how to teach (Shulman, 1986). The understanding of teaching practices, the depth of content knowledge, and the knowledge of how to teach were the foundation of Shulman's PCK model.

The first three themes that emerged from this study aligned with the three types of knowledge that were distinct to Shulman's PCK model. Participants gained knowledge of subject matter, specifically the CCRSs, through their prior experiences in K-12 schools and college settings working as long-term substitutes, teaching assistants, college professors, program coordinator, or fulltime teachers in other states. They also gained knowledge of subject matter through working in various professional industries, including healthcare, telecommunications, professional dance, or hospitality. More than half of the participants (60%) gained knowledge of pedagogical practice and knowledge of how to teach through their ATCP programs. The six participants referenced the inperson training they received in their ATCP prior to entering the classroom as fulltime teachers. Participants noted that they participated in simulation activities in which they were students and ATCP instructors modeled effective pedagogical practices. During the simulation activities. ATCP teachers placed participants in collaborative learning groups and integrated sensory-based instructional strategies. ATCP teachers also learned how to integrate technology into the classroom and to develop engaging lessons. After

developing their lesson plans, participants taught their lessons to their fellow ATCP teachers. Participants self-reflected on their lessons and received feedback regarding their performance from their fellow ATCP teachers.

The first research question was "What are ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness to be a fulltime teacher after being trained in the ATCPs in USD?" The first three themes that emerged from the data were positive, with all 10 participants referencing and describing the preparation they received from prior careers, prior experiences, and their ATCPs. The participants described the preparation they received on how to integrate effective pedagogical practices. Six out of the 10 participants were confident in their preparedness to be a fulltime teacher, and they attributed their confidence to the preparation they received in their ATCPs. Participants underscored the effectiveness of ATCP instructors modeling effective pedagogical practices for ATCP teachers and providing opportunities for ATCP teachers to not only apply those practices in simulation lessons but also self-reflect on their performance during the lessons and receive constructive feedback from their ATCP peers about their performance.

This study's findings aligned with those of Guerra et al. (2015) and Van Aalderen-Smeets and Walma Van der Molen (2015). Guerra et al. (2015) found that ATCP teachers felt prepared to teach full time when their ATCP instructors provided modeling and allowed them to teach simulation lessons and to receive constructive feedback from their ATCP peers regarding their performance. Van Aalderen-Smeets and Walma Van der Molen (2015) concluded that in-person instruction in which ATCP instructors modeled effective pedagogical practices and gave ATCP teachers

opportunities to develop effective lessons plans promoted ATCP teachers' belief in their preparedness to teach full time in K–12 settings.

The second research question was, "In addition to ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior knowledge, what else do ATCP teachers in USD wish they had to prepare them to teach in K-12 schools?" Theme 4 was the need for continued professional development training while theme 5 was the lack of instructional support. Most participants identified district-based technology initiatives as their area of weakness, and they stressed their need for professional development training on how to use PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom to increase their ability to manage the classroom, teach lessons, and to track students' progress.

To varying degrees and in different contexts, all 10 participants referenced a lack of instructional support. Half of the participants indicated in one way or another that they did not receive any help or training from the alternative program. One participant wanted ATCP instructors to provide training on how to implement pedagogical practices and to apply her knowledge of core content. These findings were similar to those of Lewis-Spector (2016) who found that 60% of ATCP teachers received no literacy training and 40% received limited literacy training in their ATCP programs.

The data analysis revealed that ATCP teachers felt prepared to teach full time as they had worked in various professional fields and had a clear understanding of the skills students needed to succeed in their chosen career fields. ATCP teachers also reported they felt prepared to teach because of prior experiences in different settings. Literature supports the findings of this research study. Knowles, Swanson, and Holton (2011) and

Foster (2020) described the role of personal experiences in learning. Adults and children used similar student-centered and self-directed learning strategies while reflecting on new learning experiences and making connections to their prior learning experiences (Foster, 2020). Therefore, ATCP teachers used what they learned from prior careers and experiences when they taught in K–12 settings.

ATCP teachers also felt prepared to integrate effective pedagogical practices into their instruction because they participated in an ATCP. Literature supports the findings of the research. Pankowski and Walker (2016) found ATCP teachers improved their dispositions and their classroom preparation, as well as their pedagogical, and content knowledge skills when simulations and role play were part of their ATCP programs. ATCP teachers in my study noted the importance of simulations and role playing in preparing them for their K-12 classrooms. Feistritzer is one of the leaders in the field of ATCPs, and she discussed the success of her ATCP, the National Center for Alternative Certification (Barwani et al., 2018). Feistritzer described the foundational beliefs of her ATCP, which were as follows: effective teaching and learning is collaborative, interactive, engaging, and modeled and ATCP teachers need exposure to the same learning strategies they will use when teaching their students (Barwani et al., 2018).

The data analysis also revealed the need for continued professional development training and the lack of support. Miller et al. (2019) found that providing consistent instructional support to ATCP teachers was a strategy school districts used to recruit, prepare, and retain teachers. This strategy supports the importance of preparing ATCP teachers to teach in K-12 schools while continuing to provide instructional support.

Schools can provide instructional support through professional development training.

The professional development training allows ATCP teachers, new ATCP hires, and prior ATCP teachers to address the gap in the pedagogical practice knowledge they gain from their ATCP programs and the knowledge they wished they had.

Shulman's (1987) three-part PCK conceptual framework underscored the importance of knowledge of subject matter, knowledge of pedagogical practice, and knowledge of how to teach. Carver-Thomas and Darling-Hammond (2019) found that when ATCP teachers did not receive adequate classroom preparation, they were more likely to leave the teaching profession. Given the results of this study, ATCP teachers possess knowledge of subject matter and pedagogical practice, but they need professional development training in the implementation and use of USD's technology initiatives and strategies for promoting parents' ability to support their children's academic success in the home setting.

Section 3: The Project

The project for this doctoral study is a professional development training wherein ATCP teachers will receive training in the implementation and use of USD's technology initiatives. The 3-day (8 hours each day, for a total of 24-hours) professional development training will be presented virtually because of the risks associated with an in-person professional development training during the COVID-19 pandemic and because "the more an individual interacts with others, and the longer that interaction, the higher the risk of COVID-19 spread" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020, Deciding to Go Out Section). Throughout the professional development training, ATCP teachers will participate in teaching simulations and small-group discussions, and receive training on how to integrate a variety of instructional materials.

To protect the health of all ATCP teachers and presenters, the professional development training will be presented virtually using Zoom breakout rooms as a forum for small group interaction. Professional development planning suggestions will be provided to transition the virtual professional development training to an in-person training. The title of the professional development training will be *Alternative Certification Teacher Training: Technology Implementation, Supporting Virtual Learning, and Meeting the Needs of All Students.* The goals of the professional development training are to increase ATCP teachers' knowledge of district-based technology initiatives, provide strategies to increase virtual learning support, and participate in teaching simulations to meet the needs of all learners.

Rationale

I chose to create a professional development training because participants in my study identified the need for continued professional development training following the 1-week training prior to teaching within K-12 schools. I created professional development training to address the following problem: The high attrition rate among ATCP teachers across USD. School district stakeholders were concerned that ATCP teachers left the profession or the local school district because they may not have received the tools necessary to be successful in the classroom. Therefore, I aim to resolve the problem of my study by providing a professional development training on technology integration, virtual learning support, and pedagogical practices to meet the needs of all students.

Review of Literature

For my literature review, I used ERIC, Google Scholar, and ProQuest Dissertation databases. I searched for peer-reviewed journals and other primary sources pertaining to professional development training in K-12 education. I used a variety of search terms to gather information to plan my professional development training and created the presentations used throughout the 3-day training.

The following search terms were used for my review of literature: professional development, virtual professional development, technology professional development, Google Classroom, PowerSchool, Review 360, support for virtual learners, student motivation, teaching ESOL students, teaching SPED students, transitioning to online teaching, developing online courses, online organizational tools, and learning

environment at home. I used individual search terms and combinations of search terms to identify literature published within the 5 last years. I conducted repeated searches for literature and identified only research that was no more than 5 years old.

In the first section of the literature review, I describe the best practices for creating a professional development training, the most effective type of professional development training, and the significance of professional development training for ATCP teachers. Next, I discuss the connections between Shulman's (1986) PCK model and professional development training. I then present research about effective technology training for ATCP teachers and provide strategies to enhance parent and student virtual learning support. In the final section of the literature review, I discuss research about pedagogical practices to meet the needs of all students, including ESOL and SPED students.

Effective Professional Development Training

Teachers should have received professional development training throughout their careers (Burns & Lawrie, 2015). Supporting teachers through effective professional development training could improve teacher retention and improve the quality of instruction for students (Evers, Van der Heijden, & Kreijns, 2016; Polly et al., 2015). Evers et al. (2016) noted the positive influence that professional development training had in reducing skill gaps among new teachers and cultivating their desire to be lifelong learners. Teachers who regularly participated in professional development training stayed current with the latest trends in pedagogy and increased their ability to address students' distinct learning needs (Badri, Alnuaimi, Mohaidat, Yang, & Rashedi, 2016).

In addition to regularly scheduled professional development training, teachers need opportunities for follow-up training. Bickerstaff and Cormier (2015) found that one-time professional development trainings did not allow teachers to delve deeply into questions about their students' learning. They found that the most effective professional development training was either multiday models or follow-up monthly training sessions (Bickerstaff & Cormier, 2015). Participants received training, returned to their classrooms, and received additional training throughout the school year (Bickerstaff & Cormier, 2015). Collaborative, long-term, and content-driven professional development training was effective in K-12 schools (Kennedy, M., 2016). Professional development training for my study includes collaborative lesson plan development sessions for ESOL and students with disabilities. Pehmer, Groschner, and Seidel (2015) stressed the importance of providing focused professional development training activities involving curriculum and lesson plan development. Focused professional development training allows time for teachers to make sure that all students, including students with special needs, are included for modified instruction while being mainstreamed into a K-12 classroom.

Incorporating long-term and focused training was also found effective in Gerken, Beausaert, and Segers's (2016) study. They stated that the ATCP teachers in the study attended up to 200 hours of professional development training a year (Gerken et al., 2016). While attending professional development training, ATCP teachers in the study were able to receive feedback from each other that led to more expertise in teaching (Gerken et al., 2016). Czajka and McConnell (2016) also found that the situated

instructional coaching process was an effective method for professional development training. In that process, the presenters modeled and practiced integration and implementation of transitioning from teacher-centered to student-centered instruction (Czajka & McConnell, 2016). Czajka and McConnell asserted that feedback from peers and instructors and opportunities to watch exemplar teachers model strategies increased transfer of knowledge from the professional development training setting to the classroom.

A review of the professional development training related literature and revealed other characteristics of effective professional development training for teachers. Flint's (2016) study of adult learning indicated positive results with the effective switch from teacher-centered lectures to a student-driven pedagogical framework. Adult learners took responsibility for the information they learned from their courses, instructors, and peer discussions (Flint, 2016). Consequently, I included multiple instructional sessions in my professional development training that incorporate content experts, curriculum integration, and ATCP teacher discussion groups.

Professional development training also increased teachers' intrinsic motivation to gather additional instructional resources to share during follow up training (Flint, 2016). Echols, Neely, and Dusick (2018) noted the importance of promoting participant engagement during professional development training. The researchers found that adult learners had increased levels of confidence because they had multiple collaboration opportunities with fellow teachers (Echols et al., 2018). Cook et al. (2018) found an improvement in teacher-student relationships when educators participated in frequent

professional development training on the establish, maintain, or restore method of instruction. This method of instruction included a concrete list of relationship building strategies that teachers used within the classroom. By providing training, communication, and collaboration among teachers, K-12 students were positively affected with higher academic grades (Cook et al., 2018). Therefore, I integrated six collaboration opportunities during the professional development training session.

Connections Between Shulman's PCK Model and Professional Development

Shulman's (1987) PCK conceptual framework of knowledge related directly to teachers and the use of professional development training to enhance learning. Shulman (1986) concluded that the most effective teacher preparation was well organized and had standards-based instructional activities. Additionally, Shulman (1986) described the importance of opportunities for teachers to integrate teaching practices and subject-matter knowledge. Adult learners were more likely to use relevant information as a stimulus for sustaining interest during a professional development training (Wlodkowski & Ginsberg, 2017). Wlodkowski and Ginsberg (2017) noted that adult learners wanted to demonstrate their knowledge through real-life simulations and used their prior experiences to formulate new knowledge.

Shulman's (1986) PCK model identified the knowledge of how to teach, and this knowledge emerged during the data analysis. Most of the ATCP participants expressed a desire to attend additional professional development training to learn effective teaching strategies for ESOL and students with disabilities. By participating in my professional development training, ATCP teachers may increase their knowledge of effective

pedagogical practices and their ability to implement those practices to meet the educational needs of all students. With many changes occurring in the field of education, the highly interrelated and competitive world demanded that teachers are prepared to teach the diverse student population using the most current methods of teaching (Stronge, 2018).

Effective Technology Integration for ATCP Teachers

Ching, Hsu, and Baldwin (2018) identified that effective technology integration for ATCP teachers started with a well-planned professional development training. To create effective online experiences while increasing teachers' capacity to integrate technology into the classroom, presenters should have allowed ATCP teachers to use the learn-by-doing method, to participate in technology-specific discussions, and to conduct self-assessment of their competencies (Ching et al., 2018). With the various technology-based learning materials being integrated into K-12 schools, ATCP teachers needed to be proficient in using them to provide effective instruction (Ching et al., 2018). I use Zoom breakout rooms to assign participants into small discussion and simulation groups. Within the small groups, multiple professional development training sessions are led by multiple experts in learning and communication tools. Engagement and interaction with participants enabled presenters the opportunity to challenge and motivate ATCP teachers throughout professional development training (Dell, Dell, & Blackwell, 2015).

Desimone and Pak (2017) determined that alignment between content standards, curriculum, daily lessons, and professional development training content was the most effective method to ensure ATCP teachers taught using effective technology integration

in their classroom. ATCP teachers should have be able to provide their input regarding content, context, and relevance throughout professional development training to become stakeholders in their own professional development training (Bernhardt, 2015). ATCP teachers were actively involved in their own learning and drew from the strengths of the presenters (Kahu & Nelson, 2017). Presenters for my study present content and materials based on the needs of ATCP teachers. Results from my data analysis provided content themes, including Review 360, PowerSchool, and Google Classroom.

Virtual Learning Support: Parent Engagement and Involvement

Most of the participants in my study expressed concern about parent engagement and involvement in their student's learning. Because of COVID-19, parents and caregivers are faced with virtual instruction in the home setting platforms to help students learn. Akinsooto and Akpomuje (2018) identified different types of informal learning that teachers used to increase parents' ability to acquire the knowledge and skills to support virtual learning. An instructional topic for my professional development training is training parents on how to use technology to support learning outside of the classroom using Zoom breakout rooms. Shepherd, Bollinger, Dousay, and Persichetti (2016) identified that ATCP teachers received training on strategies they used to help parents use various file-sharing tools and applications, including Learning Management Systems, Prezi, YouTube, Skype, Google Drive, Dropbox, and Google Classroom. Parent engagement can improve when parents are trained to use technology at home because students are participating in virtual learning due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Roth, Pure, Rabinowitz, and Kaufman-Scarborough (2018) found that teachers and parents needed additional digital and professional resources to meet the needs of all students. Students with disabilities was a subgroup of the student population that Roth et al. (2018) studied and they found evidence to support the need for a digital glossary of disability-related terms, a Disability Services Digital Manual, and assistive technology. To help parents and caregivers during remote learning, my professional development training trains ATCP teachers how to increase parents' ability to use SPED assistive technology resources such as Forecast Memo, Dragon Naturally Speaking, and LiveScribe SmartPen. To support instruction of special needs students, their parents and ATCP teachers can integrate these assistive technology resources into students' virtual learning classrooms.

Virtual Learning Support: Student Engagement and Involvement

Researchers identified various video, audio recording, and editing tools teachers can use to promote student engagement and involvement in the learning process and to provide feedback regarding student performance. Audacity, Voki, iMovie, Movie Maker, Photo Story, Jing, and Camtasia are some of the digital tools teachers used to increase student engagement (Shepherd, Bollinger, Dousay, & Persichetti, 2016). Shepherd et al. (2016) found that students exhibited increased levels of engagement when teachers gave them opportunities to communicate concepts using Blogger, PB Works, iTunesU, and Ning. The use of interactive polling was another motivator for ATCP teacher to capture students' ideas and progress using Poll Everywhere and LMS tools (Shepherd et al., 2016).

In addition to digital tools, teachers must consider the format of their virtual lessons. Stone and Springer (2019) found positive feedback from students who described the presentation of information through prerecorded Webcam videos with the length of eight to 10-minutes. Accompanying the short videos were unassessed mini quizzes for the students to take to self-assess their learning (Shepard, Penuel, & Pellegrino, 2018; Stone & Springer, 2019). This type of e-learning program was a multi-format program because teachers used a variety of course designs to reach curricular goals and instructional needs of the students (Sener, 2015). By providing student choice, varying methods of presentation, synchronous meetings, and web-enhanced instruction, teachers promoted student engagement in the learning process (Sener, 2015). Student engagement included designing and conducting their own investigations, use of a variety of resources, presenting and defending their writing orally along with the use of technology tools, and revisions to improve learning (Turnipseed & Darling-Hammond, 2015).

Meeting the Needs of All Students: ESOL Pedagogical Practices

ESOL students were the fastest growing student subgroup in United States' public schools (Eichhorn, Lowry, & Burke, 2019). Meeting the needs of ESOL students was challenging when teachers lack the pedagogical knowledge to transfer their content knowledge to effective instructional practices (Gan & Yang, 2018). Preservice teachers in Gan and Yang's (2018) study identified the need for additional preservice training and the use of ESOL simulations to increase their ability to address the learning needs of ESOL students. I include a professional development training session in which I introduce instructional pedagogical practices for teachers that can be integrated into a

traditional and virtual K-12 classroom. Gan and Yang (2018) suggested teachers include target vocabulary in context with the content while giving examples and allowing time for ESOL student examples. They also recommended using real-world examples when teaching difficult grammatical concepts. ESOL students described the positive effect of prerecorded Webcam content presentations that lasted around eight minutes and included captions accessible in different languages (Stone & Springer, 2019).

Along with pedagogical practices and resources to help ESOL students, teachers needed to be culturally responsive to learner needs and interests by explicitly connecting oral and the written classroom content (DeCapua, Marshall, & Frydland, 2018). Eichhorn, Lowry, and Burke (2019) identified that by acknowledging ESOL students' social, linguistic, and academic backgrounds, teachers supported ESOL students rather than focusing on the challenges they experienced. Another strategy that supported ESOL students was through the use of the universal design for learning engagement. The universal design for learning engagement included a unique purpose of eliminating barriers during the lesson planning phase rather than adapting lesson plans after an ESOL student was struggling. ESOL students could become more engaged with academic content as teachers increased student choice to practice and assess skills using the universal design for learning engagement (Eichhorn et al., 2019). Individual goal setting was another strategy teachers used to teach organizational skills while increasing engagement for ESOL students with tools such as checklists, models, and assignment reminders (Eichhorn et al., 2019). Minimizing threats and distractions was another way ESOL learners met their goals each day because it provided a break in the lesson for the

students that need time to process the content without disturbing peers (De Bruin, 2018). Teachers that use these strategies provide a break in the lesson by integrating smaller sections of time for lessons that need intense focus instead of waiting to break and discuss the lesson after an hour of instructional time. Through sustained effort and persistence from both the teacher and ESOL student, ESOL students could meet their academic goals (De Bruin, 2018).

Meeting the Needs of All Students: SPED Pedagogical Practices

ATCP teachers have identified the difficulty to develop and implement effective pedagogical practices because they were not taught these strategies while enrolled in an ATCP. Most American students with disabilities in K-12 schools were not having their educational needs met (Morina, Cortes-Vega, & Molina, 2015). Morina et al. (2015) suggested that there should have been professional development training that taught about different disabilities and how to respond to the needs of disabled students. Online professional development training for teachers and higher education faculty increased knowledge, attitudes, and confidence in organizing class materials and content presentation (Wynants & Dennis, 2017).

Online professional development training was effective as long as presenters focus on the content and participants' engagement throughout the training (Kennedy, M., 2016). Roth et al. (2018) developed the Disability Awareness, Training, and Empowerment professional development training program to provide professional development training to examine activities, myths, technologies, and pedagogical practices that could have limited inclusion of students. Utilizing online readings, videos,

short real-life scenarios to collaborative learning exercises, teachers were able to use short real-life scenarios to collaboratively diagnose a possible problem and implement changes to SPED instruction to prevent unawareness of a disability from happening again (Roth et al., 2018). At least one member of Roth et al.'s (2018) research team presents during my professional development training and discusses SPED accommodations, the Americans with Disabilities Amendments Act of 2008, and hosts discussions based on real-world instructional strategies. Since teachers come to a professional development training with various levels of professional experience and pedagogical content knowledge, I provide Zoom breakout rooms to allow participants the choice of small group SPED discussions led by a presenter (Badri et al., 2016).

Conclusion

Continued professional development training is important for teachers because it allows them to fill the gap in knowledge of what they know and what they want to know (Evers et al., 2016). Developing effective virtual professional development training is important for ATCP teachers and their students. Integrating collaborative discussion groups using Zoom breakout rooms and teaching simulations increases teacher engagement throughout the 3-day professional development training. A training that takes place over several days allows for deeper discussions among teachers and provides opportunities for teachers to engage in discussions, ask questions, and participate in hands-on learning (Bickerstaff & Cormier, 2015). Professional development training sessions focus on technology integration, virtual learning support, and pedagogical practices to address the needs of all learners.

Project Description

Needed Resources and Existing Support

To begin my 3-day professional development training implementation planning process, I need the approval from both the district superintendent and the district-level director of certification at USD. After they give their approval, I will work with them to schedule the professional development training on USD's calendar. Next. the districtlevel director of certification will send an announcement regarding the professional development training to all ATCP teachers who were hired during the 2020-2021 school year and all former ATCP teachers who still teach in USD. The district-level director of certification will also post information about the professional development training in class announcements. No computers will be needed because teachers across USD have a school district issued Dell Chromebook or a MacBook Air they can use during the professional development training. The only supplies I will need to provide ATCP teachers are post-it notes and up-to-date copies of state standards across all core content areas. I will not need to get district-level permission to conduct the professional development training at a school site as the entire 3-day professional development training will be virtual via the Zoom web-based conferencing program. I will provide training on the Zoom program to any presenters and technical support to presenters if issues arise during their presentations. If I cannot provide technical support, then a representative from the school district's help desk will be available throughout the entire 3-day professional development training to help presenters troubleshoot any technologyrelated issues.

The existing support for the professional development training will be the Canvas learning management system. To support instruction for virtual learning, all teachers in USD have access to both the Canvas learning management system and an email account. I will use Canvas to provide ATCP participants with the Zoom link to the professional development training and the requisite passcode to maintain security while on the Zoom program.

Potential Barriers and Solutions

The greatest barrier may be scheduling the 3-day professional development training after the 1-week ATCP summer training. I will need to schedule the professional development training between the 1-week summer ATCP training and the school district's mandated professional development training for all teachers at the beginning of August. A possible solution is to contact the district-level director of certification after the school district sets the dates for the 1-week summer 2021 training and to schedule the 3-day professional development training after ATCP teachers complete their 1-week training.

Implementation and Timeline

To address the gap in the pedagogical practice knowledge ATCP teachers gain from their ATCP programs and the knowledge they wished they had, I plan to implement the 3-day professional development training at the end of July 2021, which will be after they complete their 1-week ATCP training. I plan to present the training virtually because of the COVID-19 pandemic, but it may be also presented in-person at one of USD schools because it is free of charge. Day 1 of the training will include training

sessions on the district-based technology initiatives including PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom. Day 2 of the professional development training will include training sessions on virtual learning support strategies. To wrap up the professional development training, day 3 will include training sessions on meeting the needs of all learners utilizing teaching simulations.

The professional development training will begin at 8:30 a.m. each day and end at 4:30 p.m. The morning session will last 2.5 hours and the focus will be a topic of the day. ATCP teachers will then take two 30-minute breaks. During these 30-minutes, ATCP teachers will have an opportunity to meet with the presenters in small groups using Zoom breakout rooms and ask them questions they may not have had a chance to ask during the morning session. If the professional development training is held in person, participants can stay behind and ask their questions while the rest of the participants take their break. After the 30-minute break, the teachers will return for one more hour-long session. From 1:05 to 2:00 pm, participants will have lunch and training will resume at 2:00pm. The remaining training hours will continue with the topic of the day and end with a question and answer session.

Roles and Responsibilities

Professional development training coordinator and presenter. My role as the professional development training coordinator will include facilitating the virtual training, ensuring ATCP teachers and presenters adhere to the agenda, and encouraging interaction between participants during Zoom breakout rooms. My role as presenter will include setting up the participants' link access to the Zoom presentation. My role as a

technology assistant will involve being an assistant Zoom host in the event a presenter has Internet or Wi-Fi connectivity issues. I will also monitor the chat feature throughout the presentations to moderate and integrate participants' questions. If the training were presented in person, I would also need to make sure that the room is secured and set up to accommodate the participants, and provide refreshments in the hallway for everyone.

School principal. Because of the virtual format of the professional development training, I will not need to receive permission from a USD principal, but if the training is in-person, I need to get a principal's permission at least 3 months prior to training. If the training is in person, I would not need to organize lunch for the participants because most of USD's schools are located within a mile of fast-food restaurants.

Technology help desk. The employees from the technology help desk work all year long, so they will be available to assist during my virtual and in-person professional development training. Their responsibilities will include remaining in the entire Zoom session and correcting problems presenters encounter throughout the Zoom session.

When participants and presenters practice implementation of SPED assistive technology resources such as Forecast Memo, Dragon Naturally Speaking, and LiveScribe SmartPen, the technology district representative will provide assistance if necessary.

Presenters. Presenters' roles will include presenting content on district-based technology initiatives (PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom), describing virtual learning support strategies, and meeting the needs of all learners using teaching simulations (specifically ESOL and SPED students). Presenters will also include facilitating Zoom breakout rooms, initiate small-group discussion, and lead simulation

groups. The presenters will also need to involve participants in their own learning and draw upon their own personal experiences while leading active discussions.

ATCP participants. ATCP participants' responsibilities will include staying focused and actively participating throughout the 3-day professional development training. During small groups using Zoom breakout rooms, they will be expected to provide feedback during teacher simulations, to share experiences, and to activate prior knowledge. Participants will also need to experiment with a variety of student engagement tools such as Audacity, Voki, iMovie, and Photostory. While in the SPED presentation session, participants will also be asked to try SPED assistive technology resources such as Forecast Memo, Dragon Naturally Speaking, and LiveScribe SmartPen.

District-level director of certification. The district-level director of certification will be responsible for contacting all ATCP teacher who were hired during the 2020-2021 school year and all former ATCP teachers who still teach in USD. Because of USD's confidentiality protection policy, I do not have ATCP teachers' contact information. The district-level director of certification will email the ATCP teachers one month prior to the scheduled dates of the professional development training.

Project Evaluation Plan

Summative and Formative Evaluation

Evaluation is an important tool in determining the effectiveness of a project (Yarbrough, Shulha, Hopson, & Caruthers, 2010). Summative evaluation aims to summarize what happened as a result of a project implementation (Reeves et al., 2016). ATCP teachers who participate in the professional development training will complete a

summative evaluation at the conclusion of the 3-day professional development training. The summative evaluation will be used to determine if the professional development training positively impacts ATCP teachers' knowledge of district-based technology initiatives, virtual learning support strategies, and pedagogical teaching strategies to meet the needs of all learners. The summative evaluation is included in Appendix A. The formative evaluations will be administered at the end of each day during the professional development training during the review and reflect session. I will conduct a formative evaluation because I will modify the next day's presentations based on daily on going feedback from participants. I will use a short answer questionnaire for the formative evaluation. The formative evaluation can be found in Appendix A.

Overall Goals of the Project

The overall goals of the project are to increase ATCP teachers' knowledge of district-based technology initiatives, provide strategies to increase virtual learning support, and increase their capacity to address the needs of all learners by having them participate in teaching simulations. The evaluation questionnaire will include information to determine strengths and weaknesses of the professional development training. I will also use a formative evaluation for my professional development training because I want to know the impact of the professional development training and suggestions on improvements for future professional development trainings on the same topics. I can use the feedback from ATCP teachers to modify the professional development training and to prepare ATCP teachers to teach in K-12 schools.

Instrumentation to Evaluate Using a Questionnaire

A questionnaire is the summative evaluation instrument the ATCP teachers will use to evaluate the professional development training. The overall goal will be to evaluate participants' knowledge of district-based technology initiatives, strategies to increase virtual learning support, and simulations to meet the needs of all learners. It is important to inform stakeholders about the results of a program evaluation (Adams, Nnawulezi, & Vandenberg, 2015). By having ATCP teachers complete a questionnaire, I will be able to inform stakeholders and ATCP teachers in USD of the impact of the professional development training.

The key stakeholders of the evaluation will include district- and school-level administrators in USD, ATCP instructors, ESOL and special education program district coordinators, and members of the Parent Teacher Organization (PTO). Most key stakeholders will assist in disseminating evaluation findings from the professional development training to ATCP teachers and traditionally trained teachers who did not attend the professional development training. The PTO will use the schools' biweekly newspapers as a medium to inform students' parents of the virtual learning support training ATCP teachers received. In iterations of the schools' biweekly newspapers, schools can seek feedback from parents regarding their experiences implementing the virtual learning support strategies taught to them by ATCP teachers.

Project Implications

Possible Positive Social Change

Possible positive social change may impact ATCP teachers at USD by providing them with the skills they need to meet the needs of ESOL students and students with disabilities. It may increase virtual learning support for parents and increase their engagement and involvement in their children's learning by providing them technology training. Possible social change from the professional development training may include increased virtual learning support for parents and student engagement may increase within the virtual classroom.

Importance to Local Stakeholders

There is a gap in practice at USD as ATCP teachers are not receiving professional development training and support from USD once their 1-week ATCP training ends.

This professional development training will close the gap in practice at USD and provide support for ATCP teachers. As training and support for ATCP teachers increase, ATCP teachers may feel more connected to their work environment and it could positively affect how they teach (Law, Chung, Leung, & Wong, 2017). By participating in this professional development training, ATCP teachers could effectively implement the district-based technology initiatives. Possible positive social change could occur within the classroom because ATCP teachers could implement more effective pedagogical strategies to teach ESOL students and students with disabilities, thereby resulting in these students improving their academic performance as evidenced by their report cards and

standardized test scores. Higher academic performance could lead to more students being prepared for college or a career after high school.

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools. Increased professional development training was identified as a need by participants in this study. Therefore, I created a professional development training to address the following problem: The high attrition rate among ATCP teachers across USD. Increasing the amount of professional development training and support for ATCP teachers may increase job satisfaction and retention among ATCP teachers as well as their confidence to implement effective pedagogical practices. The professional development training will benefit not only ATCP teachers but also USD and the K-12 students. This professional development training could have far-reaching implications including increasing the amount of research performed at USD to develop additional professional development trainings.

Conclusion

During data analysis, I found that participants identified the need for continued professional development training after they completed their 1-week summer training prior to teaching in USD. The goal of the 3-day professional development training was to increase ATCP teachers' knowledge of district-based technology initiatives, provide strategies to increase virtual learning support, and increase their capacity to address the needs of all learners by having them participate in teaching simulations. I designed the professional development training to use best practices, collaborative discussion, and

instruction-based simulations. As ATCP teachers progress through the professional development training, they will learn to effectively implement district-based technology initiatives, which include PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom.

Participants may also increase their knowledge of strategies to increase virtual learning support for both parents and students. Lastly, participants may participate in teaching simulations and learn how to meet the needs of all learners, including ESOL and students with special needs.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

This section includes an overview of the project study. I also provide recommendations for alternative approaches to address the problem of the study. Next, I reflect on how I developed as a scholar, practitioner, and project developer throughout the research process. I end this section by discussing the potential positive influence my professional development training may have on ATCP teachers, students, USD, and the field of education.

Project Strengths and Limitations

Project Strengths

The project deliverable I developed was a 3-day professional development training aimed at closing the gap in practice between ATCP teachers' preparation and the teaching strategies they wished they knew. The problem I investigated was the high attrition rate of ATCP teachers at USD. According to the findings in Section 2, a need exists to provide continued professional development training to ATCP teachers as ATCP teachers are not receiving professional development training and support from USD once their 1-week ATCP training ends. The professional development training structure will incorporate large group presentations, small-group Zoom breakout room discussions, and teaching simulations to improve pedagogical practices. Throughout the professional development training, the presenters will scaffold learning by modeling content for participants, using teacher simulations, and reinforcing effective instructional strategies. Throughout the 3-day training, presenters will focus on practical, engaging instructional

strategies that promote participant discussion, which is critical for virtual and in-person teaching (see Shepherd et al., 2016).

One strength of my project is that the disseminated information will be grounded in theoretical and research-based professional development training strategies, and the session topics are linked to the outcomes of the data analysis. By implementing a 3-day professional development training, I may provide opportunities for ATCP teachers to identify their gaps in knowledge prior to entering a K-12 classroom and to reduce their gaps in knowledge. Professional development training content will include characteristics of students with disabilities, pedagogical teaching strategies, and teaching resources to use within the classroom and at home. Some of the teaching resources include Audacity, iMovie, and Photo Story. Another strength of this project is that ATCP teachers may learn how to implement district-based technology initiatives, which are PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom. Students and parents may also benefit from focused technology instruction with classroom integration of these tools. Parents and students may also be affected by ATCP teachers' ease of communication using PowerSchool and Review 360.

Project Limitations

The first limitation of this project is the timing of the professional development training. Although first-year ATCP teachers may not want to participate in 3 full days of professional development training after they complete a mandatory 1-week ATCP training, they are more likely to participate in professional development training during the summer than during the school year. The second limitation is that my professional

development training will not be mandatory for ATCP teachers; hence, fewer teachers may attend, thereby decreasing the likelihood of having a blend of newly hired ATCP teachers, ATCP teachers, and former ATCP teachers. One benefit of having fewer participants is that presenters may have more time to focus on teachers' concerns and provide them with a personalized learning experience. Regardless of the number of participants, a professional development training is effective when presenters provide feedback, include teaching simulations, and help participants improve their skills (Marzano, 2017).

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

Alternative Approach

I planned and created a 3-day professional development training for ATCP teachers. However, I could have developed an alternative approach to address the local problem. I limited the number of participants by using a basic qualitative approach and interviewing only 10 participants. Instead, I could have used a quantitative approach and collected quantitative survey data from all newly hired ATCP teachers, ATCP teachers, and former ATCP teachers at USD. By using a quantitative approach and including all ATCP teachers across USD, I would have increased the scope of this study by investigating a larger sample of ATCP teachers regarding their perceptions of their preparation from ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences for K-12 schools.

Alternate Solution

Alternative solutions to the local problem could be to provide a policy recommendation. Through the use of a policy recommendation, written advice for a particular group could help provide information to make decisions for the school district (Pianta, 2017). A policy recommendation would be an appropriate alternative solution because it could be used to provide recommendations for addressing the problem of teacher attrition at USD. I could also create a policy regarding requirements for ATCP teacher training. The policy would address the amount of professional development training hours required in preparation for teaching in K-12 schools.

Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change Scholarship

As I reflect on the doctoral process, I realize that one of my personal goals was to produce effective scholarship in the field of education (see Bagaka, Badillo, Bransteter, & Rispinto, 2015). To accomplish that goal, I realized the significance of developing and improving my research skills. I found that my research skills improved during this project study, and I used the knowledge I acquired about research skills to teach my fifthgrade students the importance of research throughout their whole life. During my instruction, I showed my fifth-grade students that anyone who has an interest in a specific research topic can exhibit scholarship and promote an understanding of a topic.

Conducting research and writing a project study were difficult tasks, but I grew as both a teacher and a researcher as I explored ATCPs.

Project Development

Through the development of this project, I learned that the findings from the data analysis and the original research problem must relate back to the project. Project planning should include opportunities for participants to develop knowledge, skills, and teaching strategies to promote their learning (Girvan, Conneely, & Tangney, 2016). Because I have been a seminar coordinator for multiple professional development trainings over the past 5 years, I had an easier time developing the project than I did collecting and analyzing research data. As a project developer, I learned to reflect on every aspect of the professional development training to ensure that participants will be engaged in the content and that the content will be relevant to their needs in the classroom. I also learned that the project evaluation should include project goals to determine if the goals will be met and to assess the strengthens and weaknesses of the professional development training.

Leadership and Change

Throughout the whole research and project development process, I learned that leaders should self-assess their own strengths and weaknesses. I also learned that I struggle adhering to APA format guidelines and the conventions of standard English grammar, so I knew that I needed to take advice from professionals to strengthen that area of my writing. I also learned that I have an unrelenting desire to grow and learn through my research efforts and to help others in my local education community. Throughout this process, I developed confidence in my research and communication skills and used those skills to contact change agents in USD when I needed help

throughout the research process. With their leadership and guidance, I have become a local leader who has taken the initiative to be a change agent within USD. I know that not all of the stakeholders will become involved in my initiative, but it takes only a few people to research and a receptive school district to allow the fostering of new pedagogical strategies to meet the needs of ATCP teachers and their students.

Analysis of Self as Scholar

As I reflect on myself as a scholar, I have strengthened my researching skills through the doctoral process and my ability to use various research databases to find relevant peer-reviewed articles. I learned that the process of developing and organizing a literature review takes many months because each research article may include information for multiple subtopics. Organizing articles by theme was an effective strategy, and as I continued researching, I found it easier to comprehend the researchers' findings. By conducting a comprehensive review of the related literature pertaining to the topic and immersing myself in the data analysis, I have become a scholar and have developed an effective professional development training to increase ATCP teachers' knowledge on technology integration, virtual learning support, and pedagogical practices to meet the needs of all students.

Analysis of Self as Practitioner

As a practitioner, I have developed a greater appreciation for and understanding of the need for continued professional development training in K-12 schools. I always knew that professional development training was significant to the continuing education of teachers, but now I understand the direct correlation between improving teachers'

pedagogical knowledge and increasing student achievement. As a fifth-grade teacher, my responsibility has been to provide effective instruction and to enhance student learning. As a practitioner, I now understand how teachers can take new pedagogical knowledge they acquire in professional development training and apply their knowledge to facilitate student learning. A professional development training is a medium for disseminating research information. On the basis of this project study's findings, I found evidence to support the significance of professional development training to ATCP teachers and their students.

Analysis of Self as Project Developer

As a project developer, I learned that planning and implementing professional development training is an encompassing, time-consuming process that involves integrating the data analysis results, considering the needs of the participants and the presenters' expertise, establishing an agenda, and developing an assessment instrument. In my role as a researcher, I feel confident planning and developing a professional development training because I reviewed hundreds of research articles as I developed my project. Using the knowledge, I gained during my research efforts, I identified the details and focus for my ATCP professional development training. I also challenged myself by developing a virtual professional development training and creating adaptations for transitioning my training to an in-person delivery model. I will continue to use these professional development planning and implementation strategies as I develop teacher trainings in the future.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

As I reflect on the overall work, this professional development training may be a valuable asset to ATCP teachers and their students. ATCP teachers may receive essential professional development training on technology integration, virtual learning support, and pedagogical practices to meet the needs of all students, which in turn may enhance student learning. I believe the most important consideration when ATCP teachers begin a school year is for them to feel supported and prepared to teach using effective pedagogical strategies. As I developed the 3-day professional development training, I reflected on the results of my study, the best practices supported by research, and the needs of ATCP teachers. Those reflections can be identified throughout the professional development training to support ATCP teachers as they begin teaching in K-12 schools.

This research and professional development training are important because they can be used to positively impact ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness from ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences. To become effective teachers, ATCP teachers need continual professional development training to close the gap in knowledge of what they know and what they want to know. ATCP teachers impact the lives and futures of their students every day, and they are agents for initiating positive social change.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research Implications

This project has implications for positive social change that could impact USD, ATCP teachers, students, parents, and society. The implications for social change at a local level would be increasing the professional development training of ATCP teachers, which can positively impact their perceptions of their preparedness to teach. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools. In reflecting on the review of the related literature and the results of this study, teacher preparation is not only an issue among ATCP teachers at USD but also ATCP teachers and traditionally prepared teachers across the United States.

A 3-day professional development training may help ATCP teachers increase their knowledge of effective technology integration, virtual learning support, and strategies to address the needs of all students. Potential implications for positive social change could affect parents' ability to acquire the knowledge and skills to support virtual learning. Implications for positive social change may also affect students as their engagement and involvement in their learning could increase as a result of ATCP teachers participating in the professional development training and integrating digital learning tools into their classrooms. Positive social change could also occur in society as students who use those learning tools are more likely to graduate from college, gain employment, and contribute to society.

Applications

This project could have positive implications by increasing the amount of needed professional development training. As noted in their interviews, ATCP teachers need continual professional development training to fill their gaps in knowledge. This project

could help foster open communication between ATCP teachers and their ATCP instructors to address any knowledge gaps during the following year's 1-week ATCP training. This could also lead to an increase in teacher retention because teachers would receive the requisite training to be successful in the classroom.

Theoretical implications could confirm Shulman's (1987) PCK theory as the findings of this study align with the pedagogical content knowledge model. Shulman (1987) concluded that the most effective teacher preparation was well-organized and included content-based instructional strategies. My professional development training could also be applied to traditional teacher preparation programs because the understanding of content was integrated with the understanding of teaching practices to create an effective teacher training (Shulman, 1986).

Directions for Future Research

Recommendations for future research could include a quantitative approach in which researchers collect quantitative survey data from newly hired ATCP teachers, ATCP teachers, and former ATCP teachers. By using a quantitative study, future researchers could expand the scope of this study by including a larger sample of ATCP teachers. Future researchers can expand the scope of this study by including ATCP teachers from across the entire USD and including not only ATCP teachers with 1 to 3 years of experience but also ATCP teachers with 5 or more years of experience. By expanding the scope of this study, future researchers could provide additional recommendations for the 3-day professional development training from a broader representation of ATCP teachers. The final recommendation for future research could be

the replication of this study at another school district within the state or southeastern region.

Conclusion

I developed this project on the basis of the results of my interviews with ATCP teachers who were actively enrolled in an ATCP. Participants believed they needed professional development training to fill the gap in practice between ATCP teachers' preparation and the teaching strategies they wished they knew. To address their gap in knowledge, I created a 3-day professional development training for newly hired ATCP teachers, ATCP teachers, and former ATCP teachers on technology integration, virtual learning support, and pedagogical practice to meet the needs of all students. The literature review information was incorporated into the professional development training and training was provided to ATCP teachers on the most effective pedagogical practices, virtual instructional tools, and strategies to enhance student and parent engagement during virtual instruction. Even though the professional development training was designed for ATCP teachers, it could be used for traditionally prepared teachers. The professional development training could improve the retention rate of ATCP teachers at USD as they would receive the necessary tools to be successful in K-12 classrooms.

References

- Adams, A. E., Nnawulezi, N. A., & Vandenberg, L. (2015). "Expectations to change" (E2C): A participatory method for facilitating stakeholder engagement with evaluation findings. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 36(2), 245-255. doi:10.1177/10982140414553787
- Akinsooto, T. A., & Akpomuje, P. Y. (2018). Achieving sustainable development goals through adult informal learning. *Australian Journal of Adult Learning*, *58*(3), 426-448. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/
- Badri, M., Alnuaimi, A., Mohaidat, J., Yang, G., & Rashedi, A. A. (2016). Perception of teachers' professional development needs, impacts, and barriers: The Abu Dhabi case. *SAGE Open*, *6*(3), 1-15. doi:10.1177/2158244016662901
- Bagaka, J. G., Badillo, N., Bransteter, I., & Rispinto, S. (2015). Exploring student success in a doctoral program: The power of mentorship and research engagement.

 *International Journal of Doctoral Studies, 10, 323-342. doi: 10.28945/2291
- Barendsen, E., & Henze, I. (2019). Relating teacher PCK and teacher practice using classroom observation. *Research in Science Education*, 49(5), 1141-1175. doi:10.1007/s11165-017-9637-z
- Barwani, T. A., Flores, M. A., & Imig, D. (2018). Leading the change in teacher education lessons from countries and education leaders around the globe.

 London, England: Routledge.
- Bernhardt, P. E. (2015). 21st century learning: Professional development in practice. *The Qualitative Report, 20*(1), 1-19. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/

- Bickerstaff, S., & Cormier, M. S. (2015). Examining faculty questions to facilitate instructional improvement in higher education. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 46, 74–80. doi:10.1016/j.stueduc.2014.11.004
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Carvers, D., Campbell, C., & Walker, F. M. (2016). Member checking:

 A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative*Health Research, 26(13), 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Black, D. W. (2016). Averting educational crisis: Funding cuts, teacher shortages, and the dwindling commitment to public education. *Washington University Law Review*, 423(483), 1-45. Retrieved from https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/law
- Bogdan, R., & Biklen, S. K. (2007). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theories and methods* (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Bruno, L. P., Scott, L. A., & Willis, C. (2018). A survey of alternative and traditional special education teachers' perception and preparedness. *International Journal of Special Education*, *33*(2), 295-312. Retrieved from https://internationalsped.com/
- Burns, M., & Lawrie, J. (2015). Where it matters most: Quality professional development for all teachers. New York, NY: Inter-Agency Network for Education in Emergences.
- Carver-Thomas, D., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2017). Teacher turnover: Why it matters and what we can do about it. Palo Alto, CA: Learning Policy Institute. Retrieved from https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/

- Carver-Thomas, D., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2019). The trouble with teacher turn-over:

 How teacher attrition affects students and schools. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 27(36), 1-32. doi:10.14507/epaa.27.3699
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, & Advancement. (2014, January). *Annual educator supply & demand report*. Retrieved from https://www.cerra.org/
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, & Advancement. (2015, January). *Annual educator supply & demand report*. Retrieved from https://www.cerra.org/
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, & Advancement. (2016, January). *Annual educator supply & demand report*. Retrieved from https://www.cerra.org/
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, & Advancement. (2017, January). *Annual educator supply & demand report*. Retrieved from https://www.cerra.org/
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, & Advancement. (2018a, January). *Annual educator supply & demand report*. Retrieved from https://www.cerra.org/
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, & Advancement. (2018b, November 13).

 Annual educator supply & demand report. Retrieved from https://www.cerra.org/
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, & Advancement. (2019, December). *Annual educator supply & demand report*. Retrieved from https://www.cerra.org/
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Considerations for institutions of higher education. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/
- Chamberlin-Kim, J., Tarnay, J., & Wells, J. C. (2019). Alternative teacher preparation programs: Examination through a marketing lens. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 38(3), 137-150. doi:10.1177/8756870519860737

- Ching, Y. H., Hsu, Y. C., & Baldwin, S. (2018). Becoming an online teacher: An analysis of prospective online instructors' reflections. *Journal of Interactive Learning**Research*, 29(2), 145-168. doi:10.24059/olj.v22i2.1212
- Colorado Department of Education. (2018, November 11). Definitions of selected terms.

 Retrieved from https://www.cde.state.co.us/cdereval/rvdefine
- Cook, C. R., Coco, S., Zhang, Y., Fiat, A. E., Duong, M. T., Renshaw, T. L., ... Frank, S. (2018). Cultivating positive teacher–student relationships: Preliminary evaluation of the establish–maintain–restore (EMR) method. *School Psychology Review*, 47(3), 226-243. doi:10.17105/SPR-2017-0025.V47-3
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education.
- Curry, J. R., Webb, A. W., & Latham, S. J. (2016). A content analysis of images of novice teacher induction: First-semester themes. *Journal of Educational Research* and *Practice*, 6(1), 43-65. doi:10.2307/2791767
- Czajka, C., & McConnell, D. (2016). Situated instructional coaching: A case study of faculty professional development. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 3(1), 1-14. doi:10.1186/s40594-016-0044-1
- De Bruin, K. (2018). Differentiation in the classroom: Engaging diverse learners through universal design for learning. Clayton Vic, Australia: Monash University.

- DeCapua, A., Marshall, H. W., & Frydland, N. (2018). The transformational learning journey of a novice ESL teacher of low-literate adults. *Journal of Transformative Education*, *16*(1), 17-38. doi:10.1177/1541344617704645?journalCode=jt da
- Dell, C., Dell, T., & Blackwell, T. (2015). Applying universal design for learning in online courses: Pedagogical and practical considerations. *The Journal of Educators Online*, *13*(2), 166-193. doi:10.9743/JEO.2015.2.1
- Desimone, L. M., & Pak, K. (2017). Instructional coaching as high-quality professional development. *Theory into Practice*, *56*(1), 3-12. doi:10.1080/00405841.2016.1241947
- Duncan, J., Werhan, C. R., & Bergh, K. (2017). All hands on deck: Research needed to examine the educator shortage in family and consumer sciences. *American Association of Family and Consumer Services*, 46(2), 99-109. doi:10.1111/fcsr.12239
- Dye, C. K. (2018). Descriptive profile and survey of alternatively certified Texas music educators. *Journal of Music Teacher Education*, *27*(3), 24-37. doi:10.1177/1057083717731769
- Echols, D. G., Neely, P. W., & Dusick, D. (2018). Understanding faculty training in competency-based curriculum development. *Journal of Competency–Based Education*, *3*(2), 1-9. doi:10.1002/cbe2.1162
- Eichhorn, M., Lowry, A., & Burke, K. (2019). Increasing engagement of English learners through universal design for learning. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, *9*(1), 1-10. doi:10.5590/JERAP.2019.09.1.01

- Evers, A., Van der Heijden, B., & Kreijns, K. (2016). Organizational and task factors influencing teachers' professional development at work. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40(1), 36-55. doi:10.1108/EJTD-03-2015-0023
- Farinde-Wu, A., & Griffen, A. J. (2019). Black female teachers on teacher preparation and retention. *PennGSE Perspectives on Urban Education*, *16*(1), 1-17. Retrieved from https://urbanedjournal.gse.upenn.edu/
- Feistritzer, E. C. (2008). Teaching while learning: Alternate routes fill the gap. *Edge:*Teaching While Learning, 5(2), 1-15. Retrieved from

 https://www.institutelm.com/
- Feistritzer, E. C., Hill, M., & Willett, G. (1998). Profile of troops to teachers. *National Center for Education Information*, *141*(2), 38-84. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov
- Feltre, K. T. (2016). Exploring alternate route science teacher development of pedagogical content knowledge (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://rdw.rowan.edu/
- Flint, E. S. (2016). Engaging social constructivist teaching in the diverse learning environment; perspectives from a first-year faculty member. *Higher Education for the Future*, *3*(1), 38-45. doi:10.1177/2347631115611285
- Flower, A., McKenna, J. W., & Haring, C. D. (2017). Behavior and classroom management: Are teacher preparation programs preparing our teachers?

 *Preventing School Failure, 61(2), 163-169. doi:10.1080/1045988X.2016.1231109

- Foster, R. (2020). Meeting the needs of college students with Learning disabilities.

 Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies. Retrieved from

 https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/7869
- Fuller, E. J., Pendola, A., & Young, M. D. (2018). The role of principals reducing teacher turnover and the shortage of teachers. *University Council for Educational Administration*. Retrieved from http://www.ucea.org/
- Gan, Z., & Yang, C. (2018). How prepared are the preservice esl teachers to teach:

 Insights from university supervisor feedback. *The Journal of Asia TEFL*, *15*(1), 99-117. doi:10.18823/asiatefl.2018.15.1.7.99
- Garcia, E., & Weiss, E. (2019). The teacher shortage is real, large, and growing, and worse than we thought: The first report in the 'perfect storm in the teacher labor market' series.' *Economic Policy Institute*, *27*(3), 671-685. Retrieved from http://www.epi.org/
- Gerken, M., Beausaert, S., & Segers, M. (2016). Working on professional development of faculty staff in higher education: Investigating the relationship between social informal learning activities and employability. *Human Resource Development International*, 19(2), 135-151. doi:10.1080/13678868.2015.1116241
- Girvan, C., Conneely, C., & Tangney, B. (2016). Extending experiential learning in teacher professional development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *58*, 129-139. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2016.04.009
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). *The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. New York, NY: Aldine de Gruyter.

- Glesne, C. (2011). *Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction* (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Gottfried, M. A., & Straubhaar, R. (2015). The perceived role of the teach for America program on teachers' long-term career aspirations. *Educational Studies*, 41(5), 481-498. doi:10.1097/00006199-196807000-00014
- Gudmundsdottir, S., & Shulman, L. (1987). Pedagogical content knowledge in social studies. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, *31*(2), 59-70. doi:10.1080/0031383870310201
- Guerra, N. S., Hernandez, A., Hector, A. M., & Crosby, S. (2015). Listen-identify-brainstorm-reality-test-encourage (LIBRE) problem solving model: Addressing special education teacher attrition through a cognitive-behavioral approach to teacher induction. *Action in Teacher Education*, *37*, 334-354. doi:10.1080/01626620.2015.1078752
- Guha, R., Hyler, M. E., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2017). The teacher residency: A practical path to recruitment and retention. *Education Digest*, 83(2), 38-45. Retrieved from http://www.aft.org/
- Inc. Magazine. (2019). 10 innovative women building mega successful businesses that are shaking up their industries. Retrieved from https://www.inc.com/
- Jennings, M. M. (2012). In defense of the sage on the stage: Escaping from the sorcery of learning styles and helping students learn how to learn. *Journal of Legal Studies Education*, *29*, 191-237. doi:10.1111/j.1744-1722.2012.01105.x

- Jing-Jing, H. (2014). A critical review of pedagogical content knowledge' components:

 Nature, principle and trend. *International Journal of Education and Research*,

 2(4), 411-424. Retrieved from http://www.ijern.com/
- Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2004). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (2nd ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Kahlke, R. M. (2014). Generic qualitative approaches: Pitfalls and benefits of methodology mixology. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13, 37-52. doi:10.1177/160940691401300119
- Kahu, E., & Nelson, K. (2017). Student engagement in the educational interface:

 Understanding the mechanisms of student success. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *37*(1), 58-71. doi:10.1080/07294360.2017.1344197
- Kalpokaite, N., & Radivojevic, I. (2019). Demystifying qualitative data analysis for novice qualitative researchers. *Qualitative Report*, 24(13), 44-57. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/
- Kennedy, M. (2016). Is it any clearer? Generic qualitative inquiry and the VSAIEEDC model of data analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 21(8), 1369-1379. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/
- Kennedy, M. (2016). How does professional development improve teaching? *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4), 945-980. doi:10.3102/0034654315626800
- Knowles, M., Swanson, R., & Holton, E. (2011). *The adult learner: The definitive classic in adult education and human development* (7th ed.). Amsterdam, Netherlands:

 Butterworth-Heinemann.

- Kuzel, A. J. (1992). Sampling in qualitative inquiry. In B. F. Crabtree & W. L. Miller (eds.), *Doing qualitative research* (31-44). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Langford, B. E., Schoenfeld, G., & Izzo, G. (2002). Nominal grouping sessions vs. focus groups. *Qualitative Market Research*, *5*(1), 58-70. doi:10.1108/13522750210414517
- Law, Q., Chung, J., Leung, L., & Wong, T. (2017). Perceptions of collaborative learning in enhancing undergraduate education students' engagement in teaching and learning English. *US-China Education Review*, 7(2), 89-100. doi:10.17265/2161-623x/2017.02.002
- Lewis-Spector, J. (2016). State-level regulations for alternative routes to teacher certification in the U.S.: Are candidates being prepared to develop their students' literacy? *Literacy Practices & Research*, 42(1), 5-15. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/
- Lincove, J. A., Barrett, N., & Strunk, K. O. (2018). Lessons from Hurricane Katrina: The employment effects of the mass dismissal of New Orleans teachers. *Educational Researcher*, 47(3), 191-203. doi:10.3102/0013189X18759542
- Lindsay, J., Wan, Y., Berg-Jacobson, A., Walston, J., & Redford, J. (2016). Strategies for estimating teacher supply and demand using student and teacher data (REL 2017-197). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory Midwest. Retrieved from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs

- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D., & Voegtle, K. (2010). *Methods in educational research:*From theory to practice. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Marzano, R. (2017). *The new art and science of teaching*. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- McFarland, J., & Hussar, B. (2018). National Center for Education Statistics. *Condition of Education 2018*. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/
- McNew-Birren, J., Hildebrand, T., & Belknap, G. (2017). Strange bedfellows in science teacher preparation: Conflicting perspective on social justice presented in a teach for America-university partnership. *Cultural Studies of Science Education, 13*, 437-462. doi:10.1007/s11422-016-9791-z
- Merriam, S., & Tisdell, E. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, N. C., Elder, A., Seymour, D., Brenner, D., & Cheatham, D. (2019). Best practices article: Teacher recruitment for an alternate route program in a rural area: Methods and lessons. *Journal of the National Association for Alternative Certification*, *14*(1), 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.jnaac.com
- Moore, A., & Mamiseishvili, K. (2012). Examining the relationship between emotional intelligence and group cohesion. *Journal of Education for Business*, 87(5), 296-302. doi:10.1080/08832323.20.11.623197
- Morgan, D. L. (1997). Focus groups as qualitative research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Moriña, A., Cortés-Vega, M. D., & Molina, V. M. (2015). Faculty training: An unavoidable requirement for approaching more inclusive university classrooms.

 Teaching in Higher Education, 20(9), 795-806.

 doi:10.1080/13562517.2015.1085855
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *52*(2), 250-260. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250
- Mulvihill, T. M., & Martin, L. E. (2019). Are alternative certification programs necessary? *Teachers Educator*, *54(1)*, 1-3. doi:10.1080/08878730.2018.1546759
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). (2018, February). National Household Education Surveys Program of 2016. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/
- Nguyen, N. N., Lyons, C., Roger-Adkins, D., Bohannon, L., Fridley, D., Gunn, S., & Smith, S. (2016). An alternative undergraduate teacher preparation program: A comprehensive one-to-one iPad initiative model. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(35), 149-160. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org
- PACE Guidelines. (2016). SC education guidelines: Programs for alternative certification for educators (PACE) guidelines. Department of Education.
- Pankowski, J., & Walker, J. T. (2016). Using simulation to support novice teachers' classroom management skills: Comparing traditional and alternative certification groups. *Journal of the National Association for Alternative Certification*, 11(1), 3-20. Retrieved from http://www.alternativecertification.org

- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Pehmer, A., Groschner, A., & Seidel, T. (2015). How teacher professional development regarding classroom dialogue affects students' higher-order learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 47, 108-119. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2014.12.007
- Pianta, R. C. (2017). Teacher–student interactions: Measurement, impacts, improvement, and policy. In *Teachers, Teaching, and Reform*. Ferretti, R., & Hiebert, J. (Eds.). (pp. 75-93). New York, NY. Routledge.
- Polly, D., McGee, J., Wang, C., Martin, C., Lambert, R., & Pugalee, D. K. (2015).
 Linking professional development, teacher outcomes, and student achievement:
 The case of a learner-centered mathematics program for elementary school teachers. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 72, 26-37.
 doi:10.1016/j.ijer.2015.04.002
- Ravgiala, R. R. (2002). Subject-specific pedagogical content knowledge: Implications for alternatively and traditionally trained biology teachers (Doctoral dissertation).

 Retrieved from http://www.uml.edu/
- Redding, C., & Smith, T. (2016). Easy in, easy out: Are alternatively certified teachers turning over at increased rates? *American Educational Research Journal*, *53*(4), 1086-1125. doi:10.3102/0002831216653206

- Reeves, T., Marbach-Ad, G., Miller, K., Ridgway, J., Gardner, G., & Schussler, E., & Wischusen, E. (2016). A conceptual framework for graduate teaching assistant professional development evaluation and research. *CBE-Life Sciences Education*, 15(2), 1-9. doi:10:1187/cbe.15-10-0225
- Roller, M. R., & Lavrakas, P. J. (2015). Applied qualitative research design: A total quality framework approach. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Roth, D., Pure, T., Rabinowitz, S., & Kaufman-Scarborough, C. (2018). Disability awareness, training, and empowerment: A new paradigm for raising disability awareness on a university campus for faculty, staff and students. *Social Inclusion*, 6(4), 116-124. doi:10.17645/si.v6i4.1636
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Focus on qualitative methods: Sample sizes in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *18*, 179-183. doi:10.1002/nur.4770180211
- Sandelowski, M., & Barroso, J. (2003). Classifying the findings in qualitative studies. *Qualitative Health Research*, 13(7), 905-923. doi:10.1177/1049732303253488
- Scott, L. A. (2019). Experience of black male special education teachers: Are alternative licensure programs the desired route for recruitment and preparation? *Education and Urban Society*, *51*(3), 332-350. doi:10.1177/0013124517719971
- Scott, L. A., Bruno, L. P., & Willis, C. B. (2019). Alternative route special educators' perceptions of preparation toward Virginia teaching standards. *NCAAC*, *14*(1), 1-22. Retrieved from http://www.jnaac.com

- Sener, J. (2015, July 7). Updated e-learning definitions [Blog post]. Retrieved from https://onlinelearningconsortium.org
- Shepard, L. A., Penuel, W. R., & Pellegrino, J. W. (2018). Using learning and motivation theories to coherently link formative assessment, grading practices, and large-scale assessment. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, *37*(1), 21-34. doi:10.1111/emip.12189
- Shepherd, C., Bollinger, D., Dousay, T., & Persichetti, K. (2016). Preparing teachers for online instruction with a graduate certificate program. *Techtrends: Linking Research & Practice to Improve Learning*, 60(1), 41-47. doi:10.1007/s11528-015-0015-2
- Sherratt, E. B. (2016). Creating coherence in the teacher shortage debate: What policy leaders should know and do. Washington, DC: Education Policy Center,

 American Institutes for Research. Retrieved from http://www.air.org/
- Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, 15(2), 4-14. doi:10.3102/0013189X015002004
- Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of new reform. *Harvard Educational Review*, *57*(1), 1-22. doi:10.17763/haer.57.1.j463w79r56455411
- South Carolina Department of National Resources (SCDNR). (2018, December 26).

 South Carolina state climatology department. Hurricanes and tropical storms affecting South Carolina 2010-2018. Retrieved from http://www.dnr.sc.gov/

- Stone, C., & Springer, M. (2019). Interactivity, connectedness and teacher-presence:

 Engaging and retaining students online. *Australian Journal of Adult Learning*,

 59(2), 146. Retrieved from https://www.ajal.net.au/
- Stronge, J. H. (2018). *Qualities of effective teachers*. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Sturgis, C. (2015). Implementing competency education in K-12 systems: Insights from local leaders. *International Association for K-12 Online Learning*, *5*, 1-80.

 Retrieved from http://www.competencyworks.org/
- Sutcher, L., Darling-Hammond, L., & Carver-Thomas, D. (2019). Understanding teacher shortages: An analysis of teacher supply and demand in the United States. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 27(35), 1-40. doi:10.14507/epaa.27.3696
- Taie, S., & Goldring, R. (2017). Characteristics of public elementary and secondary school teachers in the United States: Results from the 2015–16 National Teacher and Principal Survey First Look (NCES 2017-072). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/
- Tatto, M. T., Savage, C., Liao, W., Marshall, S. L., Goldblatt, P., & Contreras, L. M. (2016). The emergence of high-stakes accountability policies in teacher preparation: An examination of department of education's proposed regulations. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 24(21), 1-53. doi:10.14507/epaa.24.2322
- Teach for America [TFA]. (2017, November 11). *Our history*. Retrieved from https://www.teachforamerica.org/

- Teach-Now. (2019). Graduate school of education. Retrieved from https://teach-now.edu/
- Thomas, M. A. (2018). 'Policy embodiment': Alternative certification and teach for America teachers in traditional public schools. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 70, 186-195. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.11.011
- Thomas, M. A., & Mockler, N. (2018). Alternative routes to teacher professional identity: Exploring the conflated sub-identities of teach for America corps members.

 Education Policy Analysis Archives, 26(6), 1-25. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.11.011
- Turnipseed, S., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2015). Accountability is more than a test score. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 23(11). doi:10.14507/epaa.v23/1986
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). What works clearinghouse intervention report:

 Teach for America. Retrieved from https://ies.ed.gov/
- U.S. Department of Education. (2018, November 1). *National household education* survey. Condition of education in 2018. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov4
- U.S. Department of Education. (2019a). *Alternative certification*. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/
- U.S. Department of Education. (2019b). *Archived: 25 year history of the IDEA*. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/
- U.S. Department of Education, PACE. (2017). *Program of alternative certification for educators (PACE)*. Retrieved from https://ed.sc.gov/
- U.S. Department of Education Office of Innovation and Improvement. (2014, November4). Alternative certification. Retrieved from https://innovation.ed.gov/

- U.S. House of Representatives. (2007). *Preparing teachers for the Classroom: The role*of the Higher education act and No Child Left Behind. Committee on Education
 and Labor. Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www.gpoaccess.gov/
- Van Aalderen-Smeets, S., & Walma Van der Molen, J. (2015). Improving primary teachers' attitudes toward science by attitude-focused professional development. *J**Res Sci Teach*, 52(5), 710-734. doi.org/10.1002/tea.21218
- Wlodkowski, R. J., & Ginsberg, M. B. (2017). *Enhancing adult motivation to learn: A comprehensive guide for teaching all adults*. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Woods, J. R. (2016, May 6). *Mitigating teacher shortages: Alternative teacher certification*. Education Commission of the States. Retrieved from https://www.ecs.org/
- Wynants, S. A., & Dennis, J. M. (2017). Embracing diversity and accessibility: A mixed methods study of the impact of an online disability awareness program. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 30(1), 33–48. Retrieved from https://www.ahead.org/
- Xu, Y., & De Arment, S. (2017). The effects of summer school on early literacy skills of children from low-income families. *Early Child Development and Care*, *187*(1), 89–98. doi:10.1080/03004430.2016.1151419
- Yarbrough, D., Shulha, L., Hopson, R., & Caruthers, F. (2010). *The program evaluation standards: A guide for evaluators and evaluation users* (3rd ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Yin, L. Z. (2010). The rise of phenomenological philosophy of science. *Journal of Shandong University of Science and Technology*. Retrieved from http://www.sciencemag.org

Yin, R. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Los Angeles: Sage.

Zeichner, K. M. (2017). *The struggle for the soul of a teacher*. New York, NY: Routledge.

Appendix A: The Project

Overview of the Professional Development Training

Alternative Certification Teacher Training: Technology Implementation, Supporting Virtual Learning, and Meeting the Needs of All Students

General Overview: At USD, there was a high attrition rate of ATCP teachers.

Stakeholders were concerned that ATCP teachers left the profession or the school district because they may not have received the tools needed to be successful in the classroom. Therefore, a basic qualitative study was conducted to explore the perceptions of ATCP teachers within USD regarding their preparation from ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences for K-12 schools. Based on the findings from this study, I created a professional development training that will train ATCP teachers in the implementation and use of USD's technology initiatives. The training will also include strategies for promoting parents' ability to support their children's academic success in the home setting.

Purpose: The purpose of this project is to increase ATCP teachers' knowledge of district-based technology initiatives, provide strategies to increase virtual learning support, and participate in teaching simulations to meet the needs of all learners.

Goals: The goals for this professional development training are to increase ATCP teachers' knowledge of technology initiatives and strategies for promoting parents' ability to support their students at home using a virtual learning platform.

Target Audience: The target audience for the professional development training will be ATCP teachers, new ATCP hires, and experienced ATCP teachers.

Timeline: The training will include 3 full days of training (8 hours each day for a total of 24 hours). Details are listed in the daily training plan.

Materials: The only supplies I will need to provide ATCP teachers are up-to-date electronic copies of state standards across all core content areas.

Location: The professional development training will be presented virtually because of the risks associated with an in-person professional development training during the COVID-19 pandemic. I will be using the Zoom web-based conferencing program. The in-person format will include the use of a local school, the library for large gatherings, and classrooms for the breakout room sessions.

Description of the Professional Development Training:

Day 1 of the training will include sessions on the district-based technology initiatives including PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom. Day 2 of the professional development training will include training sessions on virtual learning support strategies. To wrap up the professional development training, day 3 will include training sessions on meeting the needs of all learners utilizing teaching simulations.

The professional development training will begin at 8:30 a.m. each day and end at 4:30 p.m. The morning session will last 2.5 hours and the focus will be a topic of the day. ATCP teachers will then take two 30-minute breaks. During these 30-minute breaks, ATCP teachers will have an opportunity to meet with the presenters in small groups using Zoom breakout rooms and ask them questions they may not have had a chance to ask during the morning session. If the professional development training is held in person, participants can stay behind and ask their questions while the rest of the

participants take their break. After the 30-minute break, the teachers will return for one more hour-long session. From 1:05 to 2:00 pm, participants will have lunch and training will resume at 2:00 pm. The remaining training hours will continue with the topic of the day and end with a question and answer session.

Day 1: Session - Technology Implementation

Total Time of Day 1: 8 hours

I. Registration Period 8:00 am to 8:30 am

II. Overview, Welcome and Group Introductions, Discuss the Agenda (8:30 am to 9:00 am)

- Group Introductions
 - o Name
 - o Year in the ATCP program
 - o Personal interests in the professional development training
 - o Personal Expectations of the professional development training
 - o Slides (1 to 5)

III. Session 1 PowerSchool (9:00 am to 10:40 am)

- Sign In
- Introduction: Getting to Know PowerSchool (15 minutes)
 - o Slides (6 to 7)
- Activity #1 Instructional Simulations (45 minutes)
 - o Slide 8
- Activity #2 Implementation (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 9

IV. Break and Switch Sessions (10:40am to 10:55am)

• Slide 10

V. Session 2 Review 360 (10:55 am to 12:35pm)

- Sign In
- Introduction: Getting to Know Review 360 (15 minutes)
 - o Slide 11
- Activity #1 Instructional Simulations (45 minutes)
 - o Slide 12
- Activity #2 Implementation of Review 360 (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 13

VI. Break (12:35pm to 1:05pm)

- Zoom Breakout Rooms with PowerSchool and Review 360 Presenters for a Question and Answer Session
 - o Slide 14

VII. Lunch (1:05 to 2:00pm)

• Slide 15

VIII. Session 3 Google Classroom (2:00pm to 3:40pm)

- Sign In
- Introduction: Getting to Know Google Classroom (15 minutes)
 - o Slide 16
- Activity #1 Instructional Simulations (45 minutes)
 - o Slide 17
- Activity #2 Implementation of Google Classroom (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 18

IX. Break (3:40 to 4:00pm)

- Zoom Breakout Rooms with Google Classroom Presenters for a Question and Answer Session
 - o Slide 19

X. Review and Reflect (4:00 to 4:30pm)

• Slide 20

Day 2: Session -Virtual Learning Strategies

Total Time of Day 2: 8 hours

I. Professional Development Training and Research Question and Answer Session (optional) 8:00 am to 8:30 am

II. Welcome Back and Discuss the Agenda (8:30 am to 9:00 am)

• Slide 21 to 22

III. Session 1 Effective Technology Integration (9:00 am to 10:40 am)

- Sign In
- Introduction: Getting to Know Technology (15 minutes)
 - o Slide 23
- Activity #1 Instructional Simulations (45 minutes)
 - o Slide 24
- Activity #2 Implementation of Effective Technology (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 25

IV. Break and Switch Sessions (10:40am to 10:55am)

• Slide 26

V. Session 2 Parent Engagement and Involvement (10:55 am to 12:35pm)

- Sign In
- Introduction: Getting to Know Virtual Home Learning (15 minutes)
 - o Slide 27
- Activity #1 Instructional Simulations: Organizational Learning Tools (45 minutes)
 - o Slide 28
- Activity #2 Implementation of Teaching Google Classroom to Parents While Creating a Learning Environment at Home (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 29

VI. Break (12:35pm to 1:05pm)

- Zoom Breakout Rooms with Technology Presenters for a Question and Answer Session
 - o Slide 30

VII. Lunch (1:05 to 2:00pm)

• Slide 31

VIII. Session 3 Student Engagement and Involvement (2:00pm to 3:40pm)

- Sign In
- Introduction: Getting to Know Technology Engagement Strategies (15 minutes)
 - o Slide 32
- Activity #1 Instructional Simulations: Increasing Student Engagement and Involvement (45 minutes)
 - o Slide 33
- Activity #2 Implementation of Technology Engagement Resources (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 34

IX. Break (3:40 to 4:00pm)

- Zoom Breakout Rooms with Technology Engagement Presenters for a Question and Answer Session
 - o Slide 35

X. Review and Reflect (4:00 to 4:30pm)

• Slide 36

Day 3: Session - Meeting the Needs of All Students

Total Time of Day 3: 8 hours

I. Professional Development Training and Research Question and Answer Session (optional) 8:00 am to 8:30 am

II. Welcome back and Discuss the Agenda (8:30 am to 9:00 am)

• Slides 37 to 38

III. Session 1 ESOL Pedagogical Practices (9:00 am to 10:40 am)

- Sign In
- Introduction: Getting to Know Your ESOL Students (15 minutes)
 - o Slide 39
- Activity #1 Instructional Simulations (45 minutes)
 - o Slide 40
- Activity #2 Implementation (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 41

IV. Break and Switch Sessions (10:40 am to 10:55 am)

• Slide 42

V. Session 2 SPED Pedagogical Practices (10:55 am to 12:35 pm)

- Sign In
- Introduction: Getting to Know Your Students with Special Needs (15 minutes)
 - o Slide 43
- Activity #1 Instructional Simulations (45 minutes)
 - o Slide 44
- Activity #2 Implementation (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 45

VI. Break (12:35pm to 1:05pm)

- Zoom Breakout Rooms with ESOL and SPED Presenters for a Question and Answer Session
 - o Slide 46

VII. Lunch (1:05 to 2:00 pm)

• Slide 47

VIII. Session 3 Lesson Planning to Meet the Needs of All Students (2:00 pm to 3:40 pm)

- Sign In
- Lesson Planning and Sharing in Breakout Rooms: ESOL Students (35 minutes)
 - o Slide 48
- Lesson Planning and Sharing in Breakout Rooms: SPED Students (35 minutes)
 - o Slide 49
- Lesson Planning and Sharing in Breakout Rooms: Technology Integration (30 minutes)
 - o Slide 50

IX. Break (3:40 to 4:00 pm)

- Zoom Breakout Rooms with Lesson Planning Presenters for a Question and Answer Session
 - o Slide 51

X. Evaluation (4:00 to 4:30 pm)

• Slide 52

Alternative Certification Teacher Training:

Technology Implementation, Supporting Virtual Learning, and Meeting the Needs of All Students

21 Mars 14, 800, po

Three-Day Professional Development Overview

- Overview of research on novice ATCP feachers' perceptions of prepared year from ATCP, boxhelvir degrees, consecutive, and patie experiences to feach in a 11 to lifting
 Top role in the success of this professional development
 Proce come on their and be prepared for each sestion
 Instructional shaddlors
 Top will have the professional

- You will have the apportunity to participate in instructional simulations each day
- smulptons each day

 All the send of the 3-day professional development, you will
 complete a questionnate to endurate your interesting of the
 school defact, technology in the financienting of the
 school defact, technology in the financient to increase
 virtual learning support and simulations to meet the needs of all
 terminal.

Purpose of This Professional

- Development

 Learn to effectives implement technology integration

- Committee the implement technology is
 Presentation
 Review bid:
 Course Charles
 Course Charles
 Course Charles
 Course Charles
 Course Charles
 Review technology engagement
 Review technology engag

 - Panning purposefully using all the new resources and pedagogloid practices that you learned during the professionships.

Welcome and Group Introductions

- Dr. Mary Huffman
 - ⇒EdD Walden University College Teaching and
- ⇒Teacher for 20 Years and presenter for 5 years
- Group Introductions
- ■Nome
- ■Year in the ATCP program
- Personal interests in professional development
- Personal expectations of the professional development

AGENDA FOR TODAY and Conference Expectations

- Expectations for the Conference
- We are going to learn from each other, learn from experts in the field, and we are going to leave here feeling confident in implementing strategies we learned today
- Agenda for today: Technology implementation
- Powerschool -Review 360
- ■Google Classroom

DAY 1: TECHNOLOGY IMPLEMENTATION

SESSION 1: POWERSCHOOL

Get to Know This Tool

- Notice Andre Apply praeritinosters portal grades can legal disectly less Foreign hore.
- Pers. Principle, Techniques spand 30% resulting on their website due to management laures (Principle, 2008).

- 1980 and Contraction on all \$17.675.1980

SESSION 1: POWERSCHOOL

Instructional Simulations

- Zero can be accounted for in that students do not fall before.
- Agministration have occurs for
- Authorization have except the * Aphanological con August Indicated by revening shadow grades and contract the aphanological best family and application of Sale in a Stale Risk Long your howevarious codes, portripole in patent indicate conference amustines to positive discourse thing you will have with patents contribute to report our code or in the last.

SESSION 1: POWERSCHOOL

- Implementation

 Create your gradebook for the upcoming school year

 Meet with the Powerschool feath to teach you have to weeking grades (classwork, authen, test)

 provide notifications to parents as grades are added

 Label different classes that you will teach to stay organized.

 Print progress reports

 Print progress reports

- Print report cords
 You will have 30 minutes to set up your gradebook for the upcoming school year with people to assist you in 200m treatout froms for small groups or one-on-one assistance.

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS

■10:40-10:55am

SESSION 2: REVIEW 360

Get to Know This Tool

- Review 360: a district-based progress monitoring system to track positive and challenging student behavior
- Purpose: track and improve procedures for behavior management starting with the teacher managed behavior, all the way up to office referrats
- Access: through a teacher's district partal
- Perks: data can be used to write IEP and 504 plans, user friendly
- mentury

 Pitfals: there are a lot of tabs and sections to go through in order to complete all progress monitoring sections

 Help: <u>Peasson Assessments</u>.

SESSION 2: REVIEW 360

Instructional Simulations

- Used to hock appropriate accommodations to meet the needs of each pludent
- Braugis efectivenes of the behavior management plan and make modifications? needed.
- hooks the line, occurance, and ochely when a divident, 'behavior went wrong
 Can create an emake, over on entire school, probe level, or close using current progress manifolding.
- current program minimoring.

 Sept 1.5 to Out Site. Using your Everiew 3x5 occess porticipate in behavior management simulations to provide colorizing data status a sustem with childrengia.

 * You will be sent into 200m Bereaul Fooms to groups of the its porticipate in providing advantage.

SESSION 2: REVIEW 340

- House levies but to the spooring school real.
 Negli with the thinks, but bean to health not how to but and partition progress involving to be analysed for ability.
 Charlie oils of support anouncing some landship to the country of the spoor anouncing some landship to be country or to be only the spoor anouncing some landship to some on the spoor anouncing some landship to some one spoor and the spoor anouncing some landship to some one spoor and the spoor anouncing some spoor and the spoor anouncing some spoor and spoor anouncing spoor and spoor anouncing spoor and spoor anouncing spo
- Chapte of list of optional plans for student behavior accommodations, and evaluation shategies
- Can be used to conference with parents.
 Top with home 30 resystem to prepare soon treshould management procedures and therete 30 for the upcoming school year with secure to easily you in 200n the door. Brown for small groups or one-on-one authorize.

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS: Zoom Breakout Rooms Q & A

- 12:35-1:05pm
- For the next 30 minutes, you are going to get to choose between speaking to the Powerschool and Review 360 presenters
- You can ask additional questions to the presenter to prepare for the upcoming school year

LUNCH

■1:05-2:00PM

SESSION 3: GOOGLE CLASSROOM

Get to Know This Tool

- Purpose: Organize and relay educational resources and assignments to students
- Access: google forms, assignments, integrate Kami into Google Classroom
- Perts: easy integrations with outside applications, student work can be posted in their Google Colendar as a reminder
- ⇒ Pitfalts: not robust, not easy to organize because it makes a big list of all the resources you post
- Help: Classroom Help Center

SESSION 3: GOOGLE CLASSROOM

- Instructional Simulations

 include took that are one time to teach and engage state in the Coople training courses including tricks and leasen plans for features.

 The aligned that is not colour digital season. Each coding/consolute science larguage and and colour digital season.

 The surface of minutes source, video class and and habites to bright halons in the

- ementation

 NOM TIC TOUR TRATE Using your Google Charroom occess, purificable to housing simulations while triagrating Google took into annother balancium.

SESSION 3: GOOGLE CLASSROOM

Implementation

- Checkle your Google Classrooms for the upcoming school year based on the subjects that you will beauth in the fall.
 Allest with the Google Classroom from to beauth you have to set up your Google Classroom and invite students to join your class.
- novi racoge vasaroni dra tivate student, to joh your dasi.

 Closide on degistranti, qui diagrament, qualitan for students, and upbrad tristvational malerial

 provide nelligiolate te studenti 'Google Calendar

 Steam assignment, for a class jot bit formal for easier access;

 Take grades, set up assignments to head directly into your Google Chroshood.

- Top vill hove X) minutes to set up your Google Classroom for the appointing school year with people to asset you in Journ Sewakout Rooms for small groups or one-on-one assistance

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS: Zoom Breakout Rooms Q & A

- ●3:40-4:00pm
- -For the next 20 minutes, you are going to get to speak to the Google Classroom presenter
- ■You can ask additional questions to the presenter to prepare for the upcoming

DAY 1: REVIEW AND REFLECT Exit Slip

- Indiano, each of social Scope form as based and do recrease the faturing cusations.
 Integraph they have feel confident about from findings presentations and proclass?
- What are some quantum from the hone about the of the holes.

- These questions will help us prescribe for function is presented.
 the core about your galaxies and freedbook.

DAY 2: VIRTUAL LEARNING STRATEGIES

WELCOME BACK

Welcome Back and Today's Agenda

- -Agenda for today: Virtual Learning Strategies
- Effective Technology Integration
- ⇒Parent Engagement and Involvement
- Student Engagement and Involvement

SESSION 1: EFFECTIVE TECHNOLOGY INTEGRATION

Get to Know Technology

- Purpose: Learn by-doing method, technology-specific discussions, self-assessment of your own competencies.
- Access: Proughout this training, we will be utilizing leadmology took that you and your students can access through Cleaver (our district's app platform)
- Perts: modify instruction through use of graphic organisms, tech-based tools, and Joann breakout norms for small groups
- Plitalis maintaining engagement and involvement, slow or lack of connectivity to internet
- Height dishict sludent/parent help desk, dishict feacher help desk

SESSION 1: EFFECTIVE TECHNOLOGY INTEGRATION

Instructional Simulations • Used to provide effective instruction

- Challenge pilor fechnologi stills and mollivate you to perform to your capability
 Integrate new content standards into fechnologi-based featon stars.

- District-based outlieutum guides can be effective in providing a baseline to start writing lessons as an novice ATCP teacher

ATC feacher

NOW If 5 TOBS TIBM: Using your computer, participate intechnology trilegicaled instructional simulations to practice
using the variety of tools.

tou will be sent into 200m Breakout Rooms in groups of two to participate in instructional simulations.

SESSION 1: EFFECTIVE TECHNOLOGY INTEGRATION

Implementation

- Create a standards-based technology integrated lesson plan for the upcoming school year
- Meet with the presenter to teach you how to effectively present the lesson that you are developing
- . Use a resource that you have never used before
- Differentiate your instruction using Zoom Breakout Rooms for student discussion groups
- · Allow more student-directed instruction
- You will have 30 minutes to create at least 1 technology integrated leasn for the upcoming school year with people to assist you in Joom threatout flooms for small groups or one-

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS

■10:40-10:55am

SESSION 2: PARENT ENGAGEMENT AND INVOLVEMENT IN VIRTUAL LEARNING

- Purpose: Increase parent engagement and involvement their student's learning and train parents how use technology to support learning outside of the classroom
- secretology is support induring counse or in a customin Access: Learning Management Systems, Fred. You's bes. Stype. Google Drive, Dropbox, and Google Classroom #950 catalove technology resources-Fernacial, Memo, Drogon naturally Speaking, and LiveSoribe Smarthen Perfox help porents use various file-sharing tools and applications.
- Pitfalt: slow or lack of connectivity to internet, some tools might take multiple trainings to integrate with ease
- Help: digital glassary of disability-related terms, a Disability Services Digital Manual, and assistive technology

SESSION 2: PARENT ENGAGEMENT AND INVOLVEMENT

- Instructional Simulations

 Teacher and power need address again and professoral
 securious to see the needs of all scores (lists, Rus. Rizbrowts,
 S. Coultern-Southonap, 2019).
- Teaches and parents should be trained on the use of quickles technology resources
- Model how to use Dragon Halundy Specifing Uniforties.
 Smother, and Faccal Memo
- Model frow to user Pregi Houlitube, Stope, Google Drive, Dreambox, and Google Classroom
- You will be sent into Joon Breakout Rooms in groups of three to participate in instructional structions.

SESSION 2: PARENT ENGAGEMENT AND INVOLVEMENT

- Implementation

 Create lesson plans for the upcoming school year using all lead 3 of
 the instructional resources that we discussed in this sesson.

 Heart with the presenter to teach you have to assess students using
 these digital bots.
- Design a letter that can be sent to students and powers that explois the importance of engagement and involvement in learning
- Include suggestions for the digital took and a sample of how pattern can use the resources
- points con use the securical Set up occounts for all the instructional loak described to prepare to the raci daility and engagement of aludents in your upcoming school year. It should will the presenter to rehasoft how to use strategies to implement vortical digital tools if needed.

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS: Zoom Breakout Rooms Q & A

- ■For the next 30 minutes, you are going to get to speak to the technology presenter
- You can ask additional questions to the presenter to prepare for the upcoming school year

LUNCH

■1:05-2:00PM

SESSION 3: STUDENT ENGAGEMENT AND INVOLVEMENT IN VIRTUAL LEARNING

- Problement

 Access tearnerings to the including Audelink, 1 (all, Service, Internal Indian Audelink), 1 (all, Service, Indian Audelink), and Indian Audelink), all Service (Indian Audelink), all Service (Indian Audelink), and Indian Au

SESSION 3: STUDENT ENGAGEMENT AND INVOCVEMENT

Instructional Simulations

- Provide student choice
- Designing and conducting their own investigations
 Encourage various methods of content presentations Presenting and defending their writing grafly with the use of technology fools
- Synchronous meetings with web-enhanced instruction
- NOW IT IS YOUR TURN: Using your district feacher access, participate in simulations leading instruction while providing student choice of digital instructional tools
- You will be sent into Zoom Breakout Rooms in groups of three to participate in instructional simulations

SESSION 3: STUDENT ENGAGEMENT AND INVOLVEMENT

Implementation

- Use this independent time to create 6-10 minute prerecorded Webcom, ideas for the upcoming school year.
 Use the updated state standards and detaid curriculum to guide your violate.

- your videos.

 **Natin eith that technology from to reteach elements of the Welsoon-video process of Pyrovideo expoly to add more rigor to your videos. New your process they can private that foo.

 **Index your computer cores with the students to model and set clear graped expectations.

 **Tou will have 30 minutes to prerecord Welsoom videos for the upcoming school year with people to adult you in 2000 Bedfould foom to many dysper or recorder satisface.

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS: Zoom Breakout Rooms Q & A

- = 3:40-4:00pm
- For the next 20 minutes, you are going to get to speak to the student engagement presenter.
 You can ask additional questions to the presenter to prepare for the upcoming school. year

DAY 2: REVIEW AND REFLECT

- I will send each of you a Google form as a quick esti slip to answer the following questions
- What are three that you feel confident about from today's presentations and practice?
- What are some questions that you have about any of the topics today?
- Would you like to meet with one of our presenters in a small group to releach some of the content?
- These questions will help us prepare for formarrow's presentations
- We care about your opinions and feedback

DAY 3: MEETING THE **NEEDS OF ALL STUDENTS**

WELCOME BACK

Welcome Back and Today's Agenda

- -Agenda for today: Meeting the Needs of All Students
- ■ESOL Pedagogical Practice
- ■SPED Pedagogical Practice
- ■Lesson Planning to Meet the Needs of All students

SESSION 1: ESOL PEDAGOGICAL PRACTICES

Get to Know Your ESOL Student

- Get to know Your ESOL Student

 **Lippore: \$50; wholen for the father growing shiden!
 subgroup in America's public schools (Echham, Lowry, & Burke,
 2019)

 **Prepare you to meet the needs of \$50\$, students by
 providing pedagogoal knowledge to broater your content
 knowledge to effective instructional practices (Gen & Yang,
 2018)

 **Petst: \$50\$ shident become role modes for other shudents and
 \$50\$. students" cutive can be integrated into itssons
 throughout the school year.

- transphort the school year.

 Fiftight, Communication with parents can be difficult, especially if a shuber's temity is first generation american.

 Help: Som school district has on ESCs, program coordinator that will be able to provide austrance along with the ESCs, teacher who productly notate between schools.

SESSION 1: ESOL PEDAGOGICAL PRACTICES

Instructional Simulations

- use red-wolf earnjels to leading grammfolds concept.
 Use prescribed Watering and reflected concept.
 Use prescorded Waterin content presentations that last 8-10 minute with captions occurried to different propagates (time 4, Singley, 2019).
 Connect the ord and wiften content while being outlustly responsive to learner's read.
- integrate 600s students' social, linguistic, and accedents backgrounds to support students rather than focusing on their challenges.

MON IT IS TOOL TOUR! You will now have time to participate in a sinulation whey you lead a grammar leads by using real-world examples to heads the grammatical concepts using with making connections between the aral and witten content.

You will be sent into Zoom Breakout Rooms in groups of times to particil in instructional simulations;

SESSION 1: ESOL PEDAGOGICAL PRACTICES

Implementation

- - Use visual ques
- Include finit language and English on the graphic arganizer

 Use the updated state standards and district curticulum to guide your states.

 If the specific control is the standards and district curticulum to guide your states.

 If the specific control is the standards and district curticulum to guide your states.
- Meet with the ESOI, presenter to assist with awaring student checklish.
- You will have 30 minutes to develop good setting student checklish with varying levels of assistance. There are people have to assist you in Joans Brookout flooms for small groups or one-on-one assistance.

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS

■10:40-10:55am

SESSION 2: SPED PEDAGOGICAL PRACTICES

T

Get to Know Your Students With Special Needs

- Purpose: increase teachers' knowledge, atfitudes, and confidence in teaching students with special needs (Wynants & Dennis, 2017)
- Perks: You become a stronger teacher, more receptive to the needs of your students, and empowered to learn additional strategies to modify instruction
- Pitfals: Some students with disabilities in the K-12 setting are not having their educational needs met [Marina, Cortes-Vega, & Molina, 2015)
- Heipt: I fach school district has a SPED program coordinator that will be able to provide assistance along with SPED teachers in your building

SESSION 2: SPED PEDAGOGICAL PRACTICES

Instructional Simulations

- It is important to examine activities, myths, technologies, and predagogical practices that limit inclusion of students (flath et al., 2016)
- * PID occorrendators
- Text read to student
- · faceive copy of feachers' notes
- Extended time to complete assignments
 Redrecting and organizational tools
- The Americans with Discosities Amendments Act of 2008. The American Voluntian Consideration of the Conside

SESSION 2: SPED PEDAGOGICAL PRACTICES

Implementation

- Review online readings and videos to diagnose a possible problem and implement changes to SPED instruction.

 By watching these shortness life scenarios, you will be able to diagnose problems in other classrooms so that it doesn't happen in your classroom. Develop a differentiated lesson pion and modify instruction for a student with Dysleob. Attention Default Physical Physical Check Special Check Check Special Check Check Special Ch
- You will have 30 minutes of independent time to develop lessors with people to assist you in Joom treakout Rooms for small groups or one-on-one assistance

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS: Zoom Breakout Rooms Q & A

- ■12:35-1:05pm
- For the next 30 minutes, you are going to get to choose between speaking to the ESOL or SPED pedagogical practices presenter
- You can ask additional questions to the presenter to prepare for the upcoming school year

Lunch

■1:05-2:00pm

SESSION 3: LESSON PLANNING TO MEET THE NEEDS OF ALL STUDENTS

Lesson Planning and Sharing in Breakout Booms: ESOL Students

- ACP traches have identified the difficulty to develop and implement effective SSD pedagogical practices because they were not taught these strategies.
- Therefore, we are going to create small groups using Josin breakout reads to
- reams or

 that your lesson ideas with other leaches

 modify our lessors to make them shanger

 work with expent in the field to answer any additional questions:
- This hapking was developed to provide appoint/wifes for your to engage in about stars, are questions, and participate in hardware example to create a design understanding of the content (Statemark Commercation).

BOW II IS 1008 Table. You will be put into groups of a teachers in a Doorn Section. Boom to share the leason plant Polit you developed and modify them to make the leasons sharinger.

SESSION 3: LESSON PLANNING TO MEET THE NEEDS OF ALL STUDENTS

Lesson Planning and Sharing in Breakout Rooms: SPED Students

- Shutman v (1987) PCV model directly relates to you and how you use professional development to enhance learning
 Use relevant information as stimuli for sustaining interest
- · Use rectiffe simulations
- . Therefore, we are going to create small groups using Joom breakout rooms
- share your SPED lesson ideas with other teachers
- modify our lessons to make them stronger
 was with experts in the field to answer any additional questions.

NOW If 5 1098 TURN: You will be put into groups of a twochers in a 200m. Breakout Room to share the lesson plans that you developed and modify them to make the lessons stronger.

SESSION 3: LESSON PLANNING TO MEET THE NEEDS OF ALL STUDENTS

Lesson Planning and Sharing in Breakout Rooms: Technology

- acon increasing on a storage in sevention mounts, resonance grades.

 Over, res, and double (Still) dentified the process of creating effective order experiences.

 Using learn by-doing method.

 Parficiating in technology resentin decusions.

 Comparing set assumement of your competencies.

- Therefore, we are going to areate small groups using 300m breakout rooms to

 show your feathwising-vising pulsed lesson does with other feathers
 nodify our lessors to make them shoringer
 work with expects in the least to areater any additional questions

NOW IT IS YOUR TURN. You will be put into groups of 4 teachers in a Seen Brackout Room to share the lesson plans that you developed and modify them to make the lessons shanger.

BREAK AND SWITCH SESSIONS: Zoom Breakout Rooms Q & A

- =3:40-4:00pm
- ●For the next 20 minutes, you are going to get to speak to the lesson planning presenter
- ■You can ask additional questions to the presenter to prepare for the upcoming school year

EVALUATION OF THIS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- Please complete the electronic professional development questionnaire
- ■The evaluation will be sent to your school email Goal: to evaluate your knowledge of district initiatives, increase virtual learning support, shategles to meet the needs of all your students
 With the results of the evaluation, I will be able to
- inform stakeholders, current and future ATCP feachers, and modify instruction for future ATCP week-long trainings

References

Economic 5. A Commin. M. S. (2015). Expensing transfer as earthern to facilitate instructional improvement in trapes estudated. Studies in Succentral Enducation, 46, 74-80, det 10.1006/j.chaoc. 2014 in 106.

Ching T. K., Hau Y. C., & Bestein, S. (2016). Securing an order traction on dispersion of prospective order instruction selection. *Journal of Interest tractions And Administration Commission and Commission Commission*, 12, 121-121.

talk and 10 Jackhold 1922 (1971). Promoting angagement of bights is errors. The output formers multiple ... & Bedes K. (1971), increasing angagement of bights is errors. Profit is ... 1911. 3-10. Gen Z. & Fange C. (1971). The processor of the promotion of experience of incomine in levels or in levels in the levels in levels in levels or in levels in le

Foresiched (900), Refunding to learning in uncertain times, Reviewed from Milgo//home prevencinos/com/

References

Rob, D., Roe, T., Röbinseld, E. & Daufman-Stathonogh, C. (2018). Display assumes, haring, and empowement it may paralign for using display assumes or a stressing compact house, and and obtains. Social inclusion, 4(4), 114-134. doi:10.1146/j.scinic.insic.134.

ore, C. 8 (proger, M. (2019), interpoliting, connectedness and feather-presence (opgang and amounts) short-continue statement of AutoLocality, 2010, 16th Services bios. Trigot/years agained automatically interpoliting and feather presence engaging and delaring systems on face.

Windows, S. A., & General, S. H. (2011). Emissioning diseases and accomplished a program. Journal of Proteocomplay Education and Depoles, 1991; 30-48. Addressed Diseases and Proteocomplay Education and Depoles, 1991; 30-48. Addressed Diseases (1991). The Complete Comple

Evaluating an ATCP Professional Development Training

Directions: Please complete this evaluation by circling the number that you feel best explains your opinions about this professional development training.

1=unsatisfied 2=satisfied 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree 1. During the professional development training, I learned information and strategies that will assist me in the implementation of technology integration. 1=unsatisfied 2=satisfied 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree 2. I learned information and strategies that will assist me in the implementation of virtual learning strategies to engage students. 1=unsatisfied 2=satisfied 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree 3. I learned information and strategies that will assist me in the implementation of pedagogical practices to engage parents in their student's virtual learning. 2=satisfied 1=unsatisfied 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree 4. I learned about technology resources and implementation strategies that will assist me in meeting the needs of my ESOL students. 1=unsatisfied 2=satisfied 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree 5. I learned about technology resources and implementation strategies that will assist me in meeting the needs of my SPED students. 1=unsatisfied 2=satisfied 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree 6. I was provided time to plan with fellow teachers for the upcoming school year. 1=unsatisfied 2=satisfied 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree 7. I was provided time to meet with experts in the field of technology to answer my questions so that I can effectively implement the school district's technology initiatives including PowerSchool, Review 360, and Google Classroom. 1=unsatisfied 2=satisfied 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree 8. I would recommend the professional development training to fellow teachers. 1=unsatisfied 2=satisfied 3=neutral 5=strongly agree 4=agree

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol Guide for Teachers' Interview
Interviewer's Name: Mary Huffman
Position: ATCP Teachers
Participant number
-
Interview Date:
Interview Time:
Interview Location:
Research Study Purnose

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparation program, previous degrees, careers, and family life experiences in preparation for teaching in USD's K-12 schools. All ATCP teachers were chosen to participate in the study because the teachers are attending graduate level courses while teaching fulltime. Data about ATCP teachers' perceptions about their preparation will be collected through teacher interviews. Teacher confidentiality will be protected because teachers' names will not be used in the data or final project study report. The interview will take approximately 45 to 60 minutes. The study is voluntary and, even though the participants signed the consent form, participants may withdraw from the study at any point. An audio recorder will be used to ensure that data is collected accurately.

Interview questions

RQ1 What are ATCP teachers' perceptions of their preparedness to be a fulltime teacher after being trained in the ATCPs in USD?

- 1. What is your bachelor's degree in?
- 2. Are there any courses that you remember taking that helped prepare you in your classroom?
- 3. What coursework within your alternative education program prepared you for your fulltime teaching position?
- 4. Reflecting on your first year(s) as a teacher, what were some of the benefits of your participation in an alternative teacher certification program that assisted you as a teacher?
- 5. Can you describe the types of support you've received as a new teacher, within either the ATCP, your school, or school district?

RQ2 In addition to ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences, what else do ATCP teachers in USD wish they had to prepare them to teach in a K-12 schools?

- 6. What do you perceive to be the advantages of having a prior career before teaching?
- 7. What are some elements of your career that you integrate into your teaching style and classroom?
- 8. What additional prior experiences in your life have prepared you to teach in a K-12 school?

- 9. What additional training do ATCP teachers wish they had that would prepare them teach in a K-12 school?
- 10. What are the challenges you have concerning your teaching in a K-12 classroom?
- 11. What resources do you wish that you had to aid in teaching students?
- 12. What else would you like to share concerning your experiences in working within a K-12 classroom?

Probing Questions:

- 1. What led you to that decision?
- 2. Tell me more about the event.
- 3. What did you learn from that event?
- 4. What did you do after that happened?

Appendix C: Follow-Up Email From Alternative Certification Teacher Representative

You are invited to take part in a research study entitled "Teachers' Perspective of Teacher Preparation Programs." The study will explore the perceptions of ATCP teachers within USD regarding their preparation from ATCPs, bachelor's degrees, careers, and prior experiences for K-12 schools. The researcher is inviting teachers in an alternative teacher certification program. The interview will take approximately 45 to 60 minutes. If you would like to participate in the study, please read the attached consent form and contact the district representative using the email provided. If you have questions about the study, you can contact the researcher using the email provided on the consent form.

Thank you for your consideration,